Florida International University FIU Digital Commons

FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations

University Graduate School

6-30-2017

Quorum Sensing Signals Produced by Heterotrophic Bacteria in Black Band Disease (BBD) of Corals and Their Potential Role in BBD Pathogenesis

Chinmayee D. Bhedi cbhed001@fiu.edu

DOI: 10.25148/etd.FIDC001986

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd

C Part of the <u>Bacteriology Commons</u>, <u>Biology Commons</u>, <u>Biotechnology Commons</u>, Environmental Microbiology and Microbial Ecology Commons, <u>Marine Biology Commons</u>, <u>Microbial Physiology Commons</u>, and the <u>Pathogenic Microbiology Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Bhedi, Chinmayee D., "Quorum Sensing Signals Produced by Heterotrophic Bacteria in Black Band Disease (BBD) of Corals and Their Potential Role in BBD Pathogenesis" (2017). *FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 3367. https://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd/3367

This work is brought to you for free and open access by the University Graduate School at FIU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of FIU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact dcc@fu.edu.

FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY

Miami, Florida

QUORUM SENSING SIGNALS PRODUCED BY HETEROTROPHIC BACTERIA IN BLACK BAND DISEASE (BBD) OF CORALS AND THEIR POTENTIAL ROLE IN BBD PATHOGENESIS

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of

the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

BIOLOGY

by

Chinmayee D. Bhedi

To: Dean Michael R. Heithaus College of Arts, Sciences and Education

This dissertation, written by Chinmayee D. Bhedi, and entitled Quorum Sensing Signals Produced by Heterotrophic Bacteria in Black Band Disease (BBD) of Corals and Their Potential Role in BBD Pathogenesis, having been approved in respect to style and intellectual content, is referred to you for judgment.

We have read this dissertation and recommend that it be approved.

DeEtta Mills

Fernando Noriega

John Berry

Marta Gomez-Chiarri

Laurie L. Richardson, Major Professor

Date of Defense: June 30, 2017

The dissertation of Chinmayee D. Bhedi is approved.

Dean Michael R. Heithaus College of Arts, Sciences and Education

Andrés G. Gil Vice President for Research and Economic Development and Dean of the University Graduate School

Florida International University, 2017

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my parents, Aai and Baba, and my husband Mayuresh.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank my major professor Dr. Laurie Richardson for providing me with the opportunity to pursue this degree and for the scientific guidance required through various aspects of this degree. I would like to thank all my committee members, Dr. DeEtta Mills, Dr. Marta Gomez-Chiarri, Dr. John Berry and Dr. Fernando Noriega for their suggestions and comments throughout this project.

Big thanks to everyone at Dr. Shawn Campagna's lab at UT, Knoxville, and Dr. Patrick Gillevet, at GMU, Fairfax, our collaborators on several parts of this project. Thank you to my lab mates Abigael Brownell, Zoe Pratte, Beth Zimmer for their help with sample collection and research assistance and a special mention to Patty Waikel for being a wonderful lab-mate and friend. To all the people who additionally helped with coral and sample collection, Cindy Lewis, Tanya Brown, Anthony Bellantuono, thank you.

I am grateful to my friends in Miami who became family over the years, including my roommates, Aparajita Singh, Kavita Marapakala, Saobiya Khan, Samantha Sree, my friends Syed Khalid Pasha, Priyanka Alluri, Kevin Luongo, Mukesh Ramalingam for making every day cares seem smaller because of their company.

I am infinitely thankful to my parents Dr. Dilip Bhedi and Dr. Alka Bhedi, my grandparents, Mr. Dattatray Pathak and Dr. Damayanti Pathak and my brother Pranav Bhedi, for inspiring and encouraging me throughout my life and for being my pillars of support. I am eternally grateful to my greatest source of inspiration and strength, my mother, for always believing in me and making me who I am today. A big thank you to my second set of parents, Mr. Chandrashekhar Gadre and Mrs. Shunbhangi Gadre, for

iv

being so supportive, thoughtful, and caring. A special mention to Tanuja Gadre for helping me through some challenging times during this journey. The ultimate thanks to my husband, Mayuresh Gadre, for his companionship through the brightest and dimmest moments on this path, and for his never-ending love, support, patience, encouragement, and care.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the research assistantship (NSF), teaching assistantship (FIU) and Dissertation Year Fellowship (FIU), for support through my years at FIU, without which this project would not have been possible.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

QUORUM SENSING SIGNALS PRODUCED BY HETEROTROPHIC BACTERIA IN BLACK BAND DISEASE (BBD) OF CORALS AND THEIR POTENTIAL ROLE IN BBD PATHOGENESIS

by

Chinmayee D. Bhedi

Florida International University, 2017

Miami, Florida

Professor Laurie L. Richardson, Major Professor

Black band disease (BBD) of corals is a temperature dependent, highly virulent, polymicrobial disease affecting reef-building corals globally. The microbial consortium of BBD is primarily comprised of functional physiological groups that include photosynthetic cyanobacteria, sulfate reducers, sulfide oxidizers and a vast repertoire of heterotrophic bacteria. Quorum sensing (QS), the cell-density dependent communication phenomenon in bacteria, is known to induce expression of genes for a variety of virulence factors in diseases worldwide. Microbes capable of QS release signals such as acyl homoserine lactones (AHLs) and autoinducer-2 (AI-2), which coordinate microbial interaction. The focus of the present study was to investigate the presence and potential role of QS in BBD pathogenicity, utilizing culture dependent and independent methodologies. Isolates across coral health states including BBD, were screened for production of QS signals, and AHL and AI-2 production capabilities were analyzed via LC-MS/MS. The effect of temperature on AHLs was also examined. Additionally, antimicrobial production capabilities of isolates were tested. BBD metagenomes were

vi

utilized to screen for sequences related to QS, antimicrobial synthesis, and antimicrobial resistance genes. BBD isolates represented a significantly higher proportion of isolates capable of producing QS signals in comparison to healthy coral isolates. Several AHLs produced by coral derived bacterial cultures were identified, and three AHLs, specifically 3OHC4, 3OHC5 and 3OHC6, showed a significant increase in production at an elevated temperature of 30 °C, which correlates with increased BBD incidence on reefs with increasing water temperature. Most of the BBD cultured isolates were identified as vibrios. Several sequences related to QS, antimicrobial synthesis and resistance genes were detected in the BBD metagenomes. Based on the findings of this study, a model for potential microbial interactions amongst BBD heterotrophs, centered around QS, is proposed. Taken together, the findings from this study provide a clearer understanding of the potential role of QS in BBD, and serve as the basis for further studies aimed at elucidating the pathogenesis of an intricate coral disease.

CHAPTER	PAGE
1. INTRODUCTION	1
References	7
2. INVESTIGATING THE PRODUCTION OF ACYL HOMOSERINE LACTOR (AHL) AND AUTOINDUCER-2 (AI-2) MOLECULES BY BLACK BAND	NE
DISEASE HETEROTROPHS	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
References	
3. ELEVATED TEMPERATURE ENHANCES SHORT TO MEDIUM CHAIN	ACYL
HOMOSERINE LACTONE PRODUCTION BY BLACK BAND DISEASE VIE	3RIOS
A1 / /	
Abstract.	
Introduction	
Results	
Discussion	
References	
4. EXPLORING THE PRESENCE AND POTENTIAL INFLUENCE OF	
SECONDARY METABOLITES PRODUCED BY BLACK BAND DISEASE	
HETEROTROPHS WITHIN BBD	
Abstract	82
Introduction	83
Materials and methods	
Results	
Discussion	
References	
5. CONCLUSIONS	113
References	117
VITA	120

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES

E
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
)5

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE PAGE	,
Figure 2-2: DPD detection and quantitation across isolates over time as detected using LC-MS/MS. DPD concentration measured at 0 hour was subtracted from samples and all values were log ₁₀ transformed. Samples were taken at 0, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 24 hrs)
Figure 3-1: Maximum likelihood phylogenetic tree based on 16S rRNA gene sequences of isolates used in this study and their closest relatives in GenBank. Shaded squares indicate the isolates used in this study, hollow squares indicate closest relatives of the isolates in GenBank, and hollow triangles indicate sequences that were used for rooting the phylogenetic tree. Values at the nodes are bootstrap values after 1000 resamplings. AHLs produced by the isolates are indicated next to the isolate designation in order of AHL production, from highest to lowest)
 Figure 4-1: Differences in percentages of isolates from three coral health states, black band disease mat (BBD), apparently healthy portion of a BB-diseased coral (BSML) and apparently healthy coral SML (HSML), inhibiting <i>Ferrimonas</i> EF3B-B688 and <i>Alliroseovarius crassostreae</i> CV919-312 and the AHL reporter strain <i>Chromobacterium violaceum</i> CV026 (p ≤ 0.05). 	5
Figure 4-2: AHL production by BBD isolates, <i>A. crassostreae</i> CV919-312, <i>Ferriomonas</i> EF3B-B688 and influence of temperature on AHL abundance profiles	7
Figure 4-3: Differences in gene sequences of BBD metagenomes as annotated against Subsystems database, under categories of 'Regulation and cell signaling', 'Secondary metabolism' and 'Virulence, disease and defense'	3
Figure 5-1: Model of microbial interactions for establishment and maintenance of BBD heterotrophic population, primarily based on quorum sensing)

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

The worldwide deterioration of coral reef ecosystems has been attributed to several factors such as global warming, ocean acidification, over-fishing, and pollution (Sutherland et al. 2004; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007; Carpenter et al. 2008; Hernandez-Agreda et al. 2017). Over the past few decades, it is being increasingly recognized that coral diseases are aggravating the decline of coral diversity and coral cover (Ainsworth et al. 2010; De'ath et al. 2012). Corals are known to exist in symbiotic associations with bacteria, viruses, algae, protozoa, and dinoflagellates, often labeled collectively as the coral holobiont (Rowan 1998; Rohwer et al. 2002). As proposed in the coral probiotic hypothesis, the dynamic nature of the symbiotic associates of the coral animal facilitates efficient adaptation of the coral holobiont to environmental changes (Reshef et al. 2006). The surface mucopolysaccharide layer (SML) of corals is a prime source of nutrients and organic carbon to resident microbes (Ritchie and Smith 2004). Several reports have studied the diversity of bacteria inhabiting healthy corals, indicating evident shifts in microbial inhabitants after environmental stress (Ritchie 1995; Rohwer et al. 2001; Cróquer et al. 2013).

Black band disease (BBD) was the earliest documented coral disease, in the early 1970s, and is now recognized as one of the most virulent infections affecting gorgonian and scleractinian species of corals (Antonius 1973; Garrett and Ducklow 1975; Antonius 1981; Rützler et al. 1983; Richardson 2004). Since its discovery in the Caribbean, it has subsequently been reported on reefs of the Red Sea, Indo-Pacific, Great Barrier Reef (GBR), Philippines, Hawai'i, Indonesia, and Indian Ocean and is currently identified as a globally distributed disease (Edmunds 1991; Page and Willis 2006; Kaczmarsky 2006; Barneah et al. 2007; Aeby et al. 2015; Johan et al. 2015; Sere et al. 2016). The disease

manifests as a dark, migrating mat on the surface of a coral colony, covering a distance of 1 mm to up to 3 cm per day (Rützler et al. 1983; Kuta and Richardson 1997). Tissue lysis by this biofilm-like mat leads to coral death, exposing the coral skeleton, which is then colonized by algae. BBD has been widely accepted to be of polymicrobial nature, with no single pathogen involved (Carlton and Richardson 1995; Richardson 2004). The highly variable microbial consortium of BBD is largely comprised of phycoerythrin-rich cyanobacteria, sulfide oxidizers, sulfate reducers, fungi, archae, and a vast population of organoheterotrophs (Garrett and Ducklow 1975; Ducklow and Mitchell 1979; Ramos-Flores 1983; Rützler et al. 1983; Sato et al. 2013). The volumetric mass of the band is dominated by photosynthesizing cyanobacteria that include Leptolyngbya, Geitlerinema and *Roseofilum reptotaenium* (Myers et al. 2007; Casamatta et al. 2012), with the latter found in BBD on reefs worldwide. Vertical gradients of sulfide, light and oxygen/anoxia are present in the band (Kuta and Richardson 1996; Page and Willis 2006). Within the band itself, sulfate reducers produce sulfide while photosynthesis by cyanobacteria releases oxygen. These reactions lead to the formation of a sulfide-rich anoxic base and an oxygenated mat surface, along with a sulfide/oxygen interface that migrates vertically (Carlton and Richardson 1995; Richardson et al. 2001).

Numerous investigators have studied the variable BBD heterotrophic community; yet, this is the least understood of the physiological groups of BBD in relation to pathogenicity (Cooney et al. 2002; Frias-Lopez et al. 2002; Frias-Lopez et al. 2004; Sekar et al. 2006; Sekar et al. 2008; Richardson et al. 2016). Black band disease clone libraries have revealed the presence of alphaproteobacteria, verrucomicrobia, deltaproteobacteria, bacteroidetes and firmicutes as dominant BBD heterotrophs (Sekar et al. 2006). Cooney

et al. (2002) have reported the additional occurrence of epsilonproteobacteria,

Bacillus/Clostridium (BC) and *Cytophaga-Flexibacter-Bacteroides* (CFB) group bacteria within BBD. A meta-analysis of 87 clone libraries of BBD spanning 16 species of corals found alphaproteobacteria to be the most varied group, with a sequence matching *Roseovarius crassostreae*, the second most repeated sequence amongst BBD heterotrophs (Miller and Richardson 2011). Clone libraries have also reported the presence of *Ferrimonas* sp. in the BBD consortium (Sekar et al. 2006; Sekar et al. 2008). Despite studies indicating the presence of specific bacteria in BBD, the precise interaction of these microbes with each other and role in disease initiation and progression has yet to be elucidated.

As with most coral diseases, BBD incidence on reefs is influenced by a variety of ecological factors such as temperature, light intensity, the presence of nutrients, water depth, and anthropogenic factors (Kuta and Richardson 1996; Page and Willis 2006; Voss and Richardson 2006b). Many studies have reported a positive correlation between increased temperature and BBD abundance as well as severity (Antonius 1981; Kuta and Richardson 1996; Voss and Richardson 2006a). Under the premise of global warming resulting from climate change, increased disease prevalence and intensity with high temperatures is of specific concern to coral populations susceptible to BBD (Sato et al. 2015). Warm temperatures have been proposed to decrease host immunity while concurrently increasing bacterial virulence (Harvell et al. 2002; Harvell et al. 2007). Such a change in microbial pathogenicity may be triggered by cell signaling phenomena such as quorum sensing.

Quorum sensing is a cell density mediated microbial communication facilitated by signaling molecules (Nealson et al. 1970; Nealson and Hastings 1979; Bassler 1999). When a precise 'quorum' of bacterial cells is achieved, bacteria regulate gene expression of a variety of characters such as biofilm formation, conjugation, and competence capabilities, increased and specialized nutrient uptake strategies, and antimicrobial production and resistance abilities (Bassler et al. 1994; Taga and Bassler 2003; Waters and Bassler 2005b; Jayaraman and Wood 2008; Bandara et al. 2012; Rutherford and Bassler 2012). One or more of the above-described characteristics often enable the conversion of a non-pathogenic bacterial strain to a pathogenic one (Jayaraman and Wood 2008). Quorum sensing in most Gram-negative bacteria is facilitated by secretion of small molecular weight signaling compounds characterized as acyl homoserine lactones (AHLs) (Fugua et al. 2001). These signaling compounds are comprised of a fatty acid side chain attached to a homoserine (lactone) ring. By permutations and combinations of side chain groups and saturation, bacteria are capable of manufacturing up to hundreds of AHL variants (Fuqua et al. 2001; Hmelo 2017). In polymicrobial assemblages, the precise variants of signaling molecules generate bacterial responses for inducing gene expression of specific pathogenic characters. Interspecies communication in bacteria is achieved by another set of signaling molecules called autoinducer 2 (AI-2), produced by both Gram-positive as well as Gram-negative bacteria (Greenberg et al. 1979; Bassler et al. 1994). Due to the ubiquitous signaling nature of this compound, it is often designated as the universal signaling molecule (Jayaraman and Wood 2008). The chemical nature of QS signaling molecules makes them vulnerable to ecological factors such as pH, oxygen, and temperature (Decho et al. 2009; Decho et al. 2010; Decho et al.

2011). Specific environmental variations, such as alkaline milieus, often render signaling molecules like AHLs, incapable of functioning (Decho et al. 2009).

Recent advances in reporting microbial interactions within the coral holobiont have indicated the synthesis of AI-2 as well as AHLs by microbes (Tait et al. 2010; Alagely et al. 2011; Golberg et al. 2011; Hunt et al. 2012; Ransome 2013). Proteobacterial populations, including vibrios, are well-known producers of AHLs in the marine environment (Visick and Fuqua 2005; Hmelo 2017). Along with QS, antimicrobial production as a microbial interaction phenomenon has also been studied in microbes of healthy as well as diseased corals (Mao-Jones et al. 2010; Hunt et al. 2012; Kvennefors et al. 2012; Glasl et al. 2016). Both QS and antimicrobial interactions are estimated to influence the structuring and organization of microbes inhabiting the coral SML. In polymicrobial diseases such as BBD, the impact of microbial exchanges on configuration and operation of the disease community can be of unique significance. Accordingly, the present study examines the interactions amongst BBD heterotrophic bacteria primarily through the lens of quorum sensing and signaling molecules. The present dissertation includes both laboratory (microbiological and analytical) and metagenomic data to obtain a strong understanding of microbial collaborations influencing BBD pathogenicity.

Chapter two begins by inspecting the AHL and AI-2 production capabilities of microbes across healthy and BB-diseased coral health states. Isolates of bacteria positive for both categories of signaling molecules are screened and subjected to identification (of AHLs) and quantification (of AI-2) via LC-MS/MS. Part of the data presented in this chapter have been published in Zimmer et al. 2014.

Chapter three has been published in FEMS Microbiology Ecology (Bhedi et al., 2017) and investigates the role of temperature on AHL production by BBD microbes. AHL production is compared across heath states of corals infected with BBD. AHLs most significantly varied with temperature are identified via LC-MS/MS and all AHL producers are revealed to be vibrios. This chapter also examines the QS sequences annotated in BBD metagenomes.

Chapter four reports the AHL and antimicrobial production capabilities of microbes across coral health states of BBD. This chapter also compares BBD and other publicly available non-diseased coral metagenomes to evaluate QS and antimicrobial synthesis as well as antimicrobial resistance sequences in BBD metagenomes. The proteobacterial population across metagenomes is also evaluated in this chapter.

Chapter five summarizes the implications of the findings from this dissertation and proposes a model of microbial interaction including establishment and maintenance of the virulent BBD heterotrophic community, centered primarily around quorum sensing. References

- Aeby GS, Work TM, Runyon CM, Shore-Maggio A, Ushijima B, Videau P, Beurmann S, Callahan SM (2015) First record of black band disease in the Hawaiian archipelago: Response, outbreak status, virulence, and a method of treatment. PLoS One 10:1-17.
- Ainsworth TD, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2009) Bacterial communities closely associated with coral tissues vary under experimental and natural reef conditions and thermal stress. Aquatic Biology 4:289-296.
- Ainsworth TD, Vega Thurber R, Gates RD (2010) The future of coral reefs: a microbial perspective. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 25:233-40.
- Alagely A, Krediet CJ, Ritchie KB, Teplitski M (2011) Signaling-mediated cross-talk modulates swarming and biofilm formation in a coral pathogen *Serratia marcescens*. The ISME Journal 5:1609-1620.

- Antonius, A (1973) New observations on coral destruction in reefs. Tenth Meeting of the Association of Island Marine Laboratories of the Caribbean 3.
- Antonius, A (1981) The 'band' diseases in coral reefs. Proc 4th Int Coral Reef Symp:7-14.
- Arotsker L, Kramarsky-Winter E, Ben-Dov E, Siboni N, Kushmaro A (2015) Changes in the bacterial community associated with black band disease in a Red Sea coral, *Favia* sp., in relation to disease phases. Dis Aquat Org 116:47-58.
- Arotsker L, Siboni N, Ben-Dov E, Kramarsky-Winter E, Loya Y, Kushmaro A (2009) *Vibrio* sp. as a potentially important member of the Black Band Disease (BBD) consortium in *Favia* sp. corals. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 70:515-524.
- Bandara HM, Lam OL, Jin LJ, Samaranayake L (2012) Microbial chemical signaling: a current perspective. Crit Rev Microbiol 38:217-249.
- Barneah O, Ben-Dov E, Kramarsky-Winter E, Kushmaro A (2007) Characterization of black band disease in Red Sea stony corals. Environ Microbiol 9:1995-2006.
- Bassler BL (1999) How bacteria talk to each other: regulation of gene expression by quorum sensing. Curr Opin Microbiol 2:582-587.
- Bassler BL, Wright M, Silverman MR (1994) Sequence and function of LuxO, a negative regulator of luminescence in *Vibrio harveyi*. Mol Microbiol 12:403-412.
- Bhedi CD, Prevatte CW, Lookadoo MS, Waikel PA, Gillevet PM, Sikaroodi M, Campagna SR, Richardson LL (2017) Elevated temperature enhances short to medium chain acyl homoserine lactone production by black band disease associated vibrios. FEMS Microbiol.Ecol. 93.
- Boyer M, Wisniewski- Dyé F (2009) Cell–cell signaling in bacteria: not simply a matter of quorum. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 70:1-19.
- Bricelj VM, Ford SE, Borrero FJ, Perkins FO, Rivara G, Hillman RE, Elston RA, Chang J, Brook S, York N, Norris P, Point G, Street W, Road WS (1992) Unexplained mortalities of hatchery-reared, juvenile oysters, *Crassostrea virginica*. J Shellfish Res 11:331-347.
- Brown BE, Bythell JC (2005) Perspectives on mucus secretion in reef corals. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 296:291-309.
- Bruhn JB, Gram L, Belas R (2007) Production of antibacterial compounds and biofilm formation by *Roseobacter* species are influenced by culture conditions. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:442-50.

- Bruno JF, Selig ER (2007) Regional decline of coral cover in the Indo-Pacific: timing, extent, and subregional comparisons. PLoS One 2:e711.
- Cámara M, Williams P, Hardman A (2002) Controlling infection by tuning in and turning down the volume of bacterial small-talk. Lancet Infect Dis 2:667-676.
- Campagna SR, Gooding JR, May AL (2009) Direct quantitation of the quorum sensing signal, autoinducer-2, in clinically relevant samples by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Chem 81:6374-81.
- Carlton RG, Richardson LL (1995) Oxygen and sulfide dynamics in a horizontally migrating cyanobacterial mat: Black band disease of corals. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 18:155-162.
- Carpenter KE, Abrar M, Aeby G, Aronson RB, Banks S, Bruckner A, Chiriboga A, Cortes J, Delbeek JC, Devantier L, Edgar GJ, Edwards AJ, Fenner D, Guzman HM, Hoeksema BW, Hodgson G, Johan O, Licuanan WY, Livingstone SR, Lovell ER, Moore JA, Obura DO, Ochavillo D, Polidoro BA, Precht WF, Quibilan MC, Reboton C, Richards ZT, Rogers AD, Sanciangco J, Sheppard A, Sheppard C, Smith J, Stuart S, Turak E, Veron JE, Wallace C, Weil E, Wood E (2008) One-third of reef-building corals face elevated extinction risk from climate change and local impacts. Science 321:560-563.
- Casamatta D, Stanić D, Gantar M, Richardson LL (2012) Characterization of *Roseofilum reptotaenium* (Oscillatoriales, Cyanobacteria) gen. et sp. nov. isolated from Caribbean black band disease. Phycologia 51:1-14.
- Cooney RP, Pantos O, Le Tissier MD, Barer MR, O'Donnell AG, Bythell JC (2002) Characterization of the bacterial consortium associated with black band disease in coral using molecular microbiological techniques. Environ Microbiol 4:401-413.
- Cróquer A, Bastidas C, Elliott A, Sweet M (2013) Bacterial assemblages shifts from healthy to yellow band disease states in the dominant reef coral *Montastraea faveolata*. Environmental Microbiology Reports 5:90-96.
- Cude WN, Buchan A (2013) Acyl-homoserine lactone-based quorum sensing in the *Roseobacter* clade: complex cell-to-cell communication controls multiple physiologies. Frontiers in Microbiology 4:336.
- De'ath G, Fabricius KE, Sweatman H, Puotinen M (2012) The 27-year decline of coral cover on the Great Barrier Reef and its causes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:17995-17999.
- Decho AW, Frey RL, Ferry JL (2011) Chemical challenges to bacterial AHL signaling in the environment. Chem Rev 111:86-99.

- Decho AW, Norman RS, Visscher PT (2010) Quorum sensing in natural environments: emerging views from microbial mats. Trends Microbiol 18:73-80.
- Decho AW, Visscher PT, Ferry J, Kawaguchi T, He L, Przekop KM, Norman RS, Reid RP (2009) Autoinducers extracted from microbial mats reveal a surprising diversity of N-acylhomoserine lactones (AHLs) and abundance changes that may relate to diel pH. Environ Microbiol 11:409-20.
- Dinsdale EA, Pantos O, Smriga S, Edwards RA, Angly F, Wegley L, Hatay M, Hall D, Brown E, Haynes M, Krause L, Sala E, Sandin SA, Vega Thurber R, Willis BL, Azam F, Knowlton N, Rohwer F (2008) Microbial ecology of four coral atolls in the Northern Line Islands. PLoS One 3:e1584.
- Ducklow HW, Mitchell R (1979) Observations on naturally and artificially diseased tropical corals: A scanning electron microscope study. Microb Ecol 5:215-223.
- Edmunds PJ (1991) Extent and effect of black band disease on a Caribbean reef. Coral Reefs 10:161-165.
- Ford SE, Borrero FJ (2001) Epizootiology and pathology of juvenile oyster disease in the eastern oyster, *Crassostrea virginica*. J Invertebr Pathol 78:141-154.
- Frias-Lopez J, Klaus JS, Bonheyo GT, Fouke BW (2004) Bacterial community associated with black band disease in corals. Appl Environ Microbiol 70:5955-5962.
- Frias-Lopez J, Zerkle AL, Bonheyo GT, Fouke BW (2002) Partitioning of bacterial communities between seawater and healthy, black band diseased, and dead coral surfaces. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:2214-2228.
- Fuqua C, Parsek MR, Greenberg EP (2001) Regulation of gene expression by cell to cell communication: acyl-homoserine lactone quorum sensing. Annu Rev Genet 35:439-468.
- Fuqua WC, Winans SC, Greenberg EP (1994) Quorum sensing in bacteria: The LuxR-LuxI family of cell density- responsive transcriptional regulators. J Bacteriol 176:269-275.
- Gantar M, Kaczmarsky LT, Stanić D, Miller AW, Richardson LL (2011) Antibacterial activity of marine and black band disease cyanobacteria against coral-associated bacteria. Marine drugs 9:2089-105.
- Gantner S, Schmid M, Durr C, Schuhegger R, Steidle A, Hutzler P, Langebartels C, Eberl L, Hartmann A, Dazzo FB (2006) In situ quantitation of the spatial scale of calling distances and population density-independent *N*-acylhomoserine lactone-mediated

communication by *Rhizobacteria* colonized on plant roots. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 56:188-194.

Garrett P, Ducklow H (1975) Coral diseases in Bermuda. Nature 253:349-350.

- Glasl B, Herndl GJ, Frade PR (2016) The microbiome of coral surface mucus has a key role in mediating holobiont health and survival upon disturbance. The ISME Journal 10:2280-2292.
- Godwin S, Bent E, Borneman J, Pereg L (2012) The role of coral-associated bacterial communities in Australian subtropical white syndrome of *Turbinaria mesenterina*. PloS one 7:e44243.
- Golberg K, Eltzov E, Shnit-Orland M, Marks RS, Kushmaro A (2011) Characterization of quorum sensing signals in coral-associated bacteria. Microb Ecol 61:783-792.
- Gram L, Grossart H, Schlingloff A, Kiørboe T (2002) Possible quorum sensing in marine snow bacteria: Production of acylated homoserine lactones by *Roseobacter* strains isolated from marine snow. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:4111-4116.
- Greenberg E, Hastings J, Ulitzur S (1979) Induction of luciferase synthesis in *Beneckea harveyi* by other marine bacteria. Arch Microbiol 120:87-91.
- Harborne AR, Rogers A, Bozec YM, Mumby PJ (2017) Multiple stressors and the functioning of coral reefs. Ann Rev Mar Sci 9:445-468.
- Harvell D, Jordán-Dahlgren E, Merkel S, Rosenberg E, Raymundo L, Smith G, Weil E, Willis B (2007) Coral disease, environmental drivers, and the balance between coral and microbial associates. Oceanography 20:172-195.
- Harvell CD, Mitchell CE, Ward JR, Altizer S, Dobson AP, Ostfeld RS, Samuel MD (2002) Climate warming and disease risks for terrestrial and marine biota. Science 296:2158-2162.
- Hernandez-Agreda A, Gates RD, Ainsworth TD (2017) Defining the Core Microbiome in Corals' Microbial Soup. Trends Microbiol 25:125-140.
- Hmelo L, Van Mooy B (2009) Kinetic constraints on acylated homoserine lactone-based quorum sensing in marine environments. Aquat Microb Ecol 54:127-133.
- Hmelo LR (2017) Quorum sensing in marine microbial environments. Ann Rev Mar Sci 9:257-281.
- Hoegh-Guldberg O, Mumby PJ, Hooten AJ, Steneck RS, Greenfield P, Gomez E, Harvell CD, Sale PF, Edwards AJ, Caldeira K, Knowlton N, Eakin CM, Iglesias-Prieto R,

Muthiga N, Bradbury RH, Dubi A, Hatziolos ME (2007) Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. Science 318:1737 LP-1742.

- Horswill AR, Stoodley P, Stewart PS, Parsek MR (2007) The effect of the chemical, biological, and physical environment on quorum sensing in structured microbial communities. Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry 387:371-380.
- Huang Y, Ki J, Case R, Qian P (2008) Diversity and acyl-homoserine lactone production among subtidal biofilm-forming bacteria. Aquat Microb Ecol 52:185-193.
- Hunt LR, Smith SM, Downum KR, Mydlarz LD (2012) Microbial regulation in gorgonian corals. Marine drugs 10:1225-1243.
- Irie Y, Parsek MR (2008) Quorum sensing and microbial biofilms Bacterial biofilms. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp 67-84.
- Jain R, Rivera MC, Lake JA (1999) Horizontal gene transfer among genomes: the complexity hypothesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:3801-3806.
- Jayaraman A, Wood TK (2008) Bacterial quorum sensing: signals, circuits, and implications for biofilms and disease. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 10:145-167.
- Johan O, Bengen DG, Zamani NP, Suharsono, Sweet MJ (2015) The distribution and abundance of black band disease and white syndrome in Kepulauan Seribu, Indonesia. HAYATI Journal of Biosciences 22:1-8.
- Joint I, Tait K, Callow ME, Callow JA, Milton D, Williams P, Cámara M (2002) Cell-tocell communication across the prokaryote-eukaryote boundary. Science 298:1207.
- Kaczmarsky LT (2006) Coral disease dynamics in the central Philippines. Dis Aquat Organ 69:9-21.
- Kaufmann GF, Sartorio R, Lee SH, Rogers CJ, Meijler MM, Moss JA, Clapham B, Brogan AP, Dickerson TJ, Janda KD (2005) Revisiting quorum sensing: Discovery of additional chemical and biological functions for 3-oxo-*N*-acylhomoserine lactones. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:309-314.
- Kessner D, Chambers M, Burke R, Agus D, Mallick P (2008) ProteoWizard: Open source software for rapid proteomics tools development. Bioinformatics 24:2534-2536.
- Krediet CJ, Ritchie KB, Paul VJ, Teplitski M (2013) Coral-associated micro-organisms and their roles in promoting coral health and thwarting diseases. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 280:20122328.

- Kuek FWI, Lim L, Ngu L, Mujahid A, Lim P, Leaw C, Müller M (2015) The potential roles of bacterial communities in coral defence: A case study at Talang-talang reef. Ocean Science Journal 50:269-282.
- Kuta KG, Richardson LL (1996) Abundance and distribution of black band disease on coral reefs in the northern Florida Keys. Coral Reefs 15:219-223.
- Kuta, KG, Richardson, LL (1997) Black band disease and the fate of diseased coral colonies in the Florida Keys. Proceedings of the 8th International Coral Reef Symposium:575-578.
- Kvennefors EC, Sampayo E, Kerr C, Vieira G, Roff G, Barnes AC (2012) Regulation of bacterial communities through antimicrobial activity by the coral holobiont. Microb Ecol 63:605-18.
- Littman R, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2011) Metagenomic analysis of the coral holobiont during a natural bleaching event on the Great Barrier Reef. Environmental microbiology reports 3:651-660.
- Maloy AP, Ford SE, Karney RC, Boettcher KJ (2007) *Roseovarius crassostreae*, the etiological agent of Juvenile Oyster Disease (now to be known as *Roseovarius* Oyster Disease) in *Crassostrea virginica*. Aquaculture 269:71-83.
- Mao-Jones J, Ritchie KB, Jones LE, Ellner SP (2010) How microbial community composition regulates coral disease development. PLoS Biology 8:22-26.
- May AL, Eisenhauer ME, Coulston KS, Campagna SR (2012) Detection and quantitation of bacterial acylhomoserine lactone quorum sensing molecules via liquid chromatography-isotope dilution tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Chem 84:1243-1252.
- McClean KH, Winson MK, Fish L, Taylor A, Chhabra SR, Camara M, Daykin M, John H, Swift S, Bycroft BW, Stewart GSAB, Williams P (1997) Quorum sensing and *Chromobacteriurn violaceum*: exploitation of violacein production and inhibition for the detection of *N*-acyl homoserine lactones. Microbiology 143:3703-3711.
- Melamud E, Vastag L, Rabinowitz JD (2010) Metabolomic analysis and visualization engine for LC-MS data. Anal Chem 82:9818-9826.
- Meyer F, Paarmann D, D'Souza M, Olson R, Glass EM, Kubal M, Paczian T, Rodriguez A, Stevens R, Wilke A, Wilkening J (2008) The metagenomics RAST server-a public resource for the automatic phylogenetic and functional analysis of metagenomes. BMC Bioinformatics 9:386.

- Meyer JL, Paul VJ, Raymundo LJ, Teplitski M (2017) Comparative Metagenomics of the Polymicrobial Black Band Disease of Corals. Front Microbiol 8:618.
- Miller AW (2012) Black band disease: elucidating origins and disease mechanisms. PhD dissertation.
- Miller AW, Richardson LL (2011) A meta-analysis of 16S rRNA gene clone libraries from the polymicrobial black band disease of corals. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 75:231-241.
- Miller MB, Bassler BL (2001) Quorum sensing in bacteria. Annu Rev Microbiol 55:165-199.
- Milton DL (2006) Quorum sensing in vibrios: Complexity for diversification. International Journal of Medical Microbiology 296:61-71.
- Mohamed NM, Cicirelli EM, Kan J, Chen F, Fuqua C, Hill RT (2008) Diversity and quorum-sensing signal production of *Proteobacteria* associated with marine sponges. Environ Microbiol 10:75-86.
- Munn CB (2015) The role of vibrios in diseases of corals. Microbiology spectrum 3:1-12.
- Myers JL, Sekar R, Richardson LL (2007) Molecular detection and ecological significance of the cyanobacterial genera *Geitlerinema* and *Leptolyngbya* in black band disease of corals. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:5173-82.
- Nealson KH, Hastings JW (1979) Bacterial bioluminescence: its control and ecological significance. Microbiol Rev 43:496-518.
- Nealson KH, Platt T, Hastings JW (1970) Cellular control of the synthesis and activity of the bacterial luminescent system. J Bacteriol 104:313-322.
- Nissimov J, Rosenberg E, Munn CB (2009) Antimicrobial properties of resident coral mucus bacteria of *Oculina patagonica*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 292:210-5.
- Nogales B, Lanfranconi MP, Pina-Villalonga JM, Bosch R (2011) Anthropogenic perturbations in marine microbial communities. FEMS Microbiol Rev 35:275-298.
- Page C, Willis B (2006) Distribution, host range and large-scale spatial variability in black band disease prevalence on the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Dis Aquat Org 69:41-51.
- Pal C, Bengtsson-Palme J, Kristiansson E, Larsson DG (2015) Co-occurrence of resistance genes to antibiotics, biocides and metals reveals novel insights into their co-selection potential. BMC Genomics 16:964-015-2153-5.

- Pantos O, Bythell JC (2006) Bacterial community structure associated with white band disease in the elkhorn coral *Acropora palmata* determined using culture-independent 16S rRNA techniques. Dis Aquat Org 69:79-88.
- Pantos O, Cooney RP, Le Tissier M,D., Barer MR, O'Donnell A,G., Bythell JC (2003) The bacterial ecology of a plague-like disease affecting the Caribbean coral *Montastrea annularis*. Environ Microbiol 5:370-382.
- Parveen N, Cornell KA (2011) Methylthioadenosine/S- adenosylhomocysteine nucleosidase, a critical enzyme for bacterial metabolism. Mol Microbiol 79:7-20.
- Pereira CS, Thompson JA, Xavier KB (2013) AI-2-mediated signaling in bacteria. FEMS Microbiol Rev 37:156-181.
- Ramos-Flores T (1983) Lower marine fungus associated with black line disease in star corals (*Montastrea annularis*, E. & S.). Biol Bull 165:429-435.
- Ransome E (2013) The effects of environmental conditions on quorum sensing and community interactions in coral-associated bacteria.
- Ransome E, Munn CB, Halliday N, Cámara M, Tait K (2014) Diverse profiles of *N*-acylhomoserine lactone molecules found in cnidarians. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 87:315-329.
- Reshef L, Koren O, Loya Y, Zilber-Rosenberg I, Rosenberg E (2006) The coral probiotic hypothesis. Environ Microbiol 8:2068-2073.
- Richardson LL (2004) Black band disease Coral health and disease. Springer, pp 325-336.
- Richardson LL (1996) Horizontal and vertical migration patterns of *Phormidium corallyticum* and *Beggiatoa* spp. associated with black-band disease of corals. Microb Ecol 32:323-335.
- Richardson LL, Miller AW, Blackwelder PL, Al- Sayegh H (2016) Cyanobacterialassociated colored- band diseases of the Atlantic/Caribbean Diseases of coral. John Wiley & Sons, Inc, pp 345-353.
- Richardson LL (2012) Arnfried Antonius, coral diseases, and the AMLC. Revista de biología tropical 60:13-20.
- Richardson LL, Smith GW, Ritchie KB, Carlton RG (2001) Integrating microbiological, microsensor, molecular, and physiologic techniques in the study of coral disease pathogenesis *The Ecology and Etiology of Newly Emerging Marine Diseases*. Springer Netherlands, pp 71-89.

- Ritchie KB (2006) Regulation of microbial populations by coral surface mucus and mucus-associated bacteria. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 322:1-14.
- Ritchie KB (1995) Carbon-source utilization patterns of coral-associated marine heterotrophs. J Mar Biotechnol 3:105-107.
- Ritchie KB, Smith GW (2004) Microbial communities of coral surface mucopolysaccharide layers Coral Health and Disease. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp 259-264.
- Rohwer F, Breitbart M, Jara J, Azam F, Knowlton N (2001) Diversity of bacteria associated with the Caribbean coral *Montastraea franksi*. Coral Reefs 20:85-91.
- Rohwer F, Seguritan V, Azam F, Knowlton N (2002) Diversity and distribution of coralassociated bacteria. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 243:1-10.
- Rosenberg E, Ben Haim Y (2002) Microbial disease of corals and global warming. Environ Microbiol 4:318-326.
- Rowan R (1998) Diversity and ecology of zooxanthellae on coral reefs. J Phycol 34:407-417.
- Rutherford ST, Bassler BL (2012) Bacterial quorum sensing: its role in virulence and possibilities for its control. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine 2:a012427.
- Rützler K, Santavy DL, Antonius A (1983) The black band disease of Atlantic reef corals. Mar Ecol 4:329-358.
- Rypien KL, Ward JR, Azam F (2010) Antagonistic interactions among coral-associated bacteria. Environ Microbiol 12:28-39.
- Sato Y, Ling EY, Turaev D, Laffy P, Weynberg KD, Rattei T, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2017) Unraveling the microbial processes of black band disease in corals through integrated genomics. Sci Rep 7:40455.
- Sato Y, Civiello M, Bell SC, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2015) Integrated approach to understanding the onset and pathogenesis of black band disease in corals. Environ Microbiol 18:752-765.
- Sato Y, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2013) Pyrosequencing-based profiling of archaeal and bacterial 16S rRNA genes identifies a novel archaeon associated with black band disease in corals. Environ Microbiol 15:2994-3007.

- Sato Y, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2010) Successional changes in bacterial communities during the development of black band disease on the reef coral, *Montipora hispida*. The ISME journal 4:203-214.
- Schauder S, Shokat K, Surette MG, Bassler BL (2001) The LuxS family of bacterial autoinducers: biosynthesis of a novel quorum- sensing signal molecule. Mol Microbiol 41:463-476.
- Sekar R, Kaczmarsky LT, Richardson LL (2008) Microbial community composition of black band disease on the coral host *Siderastrea siderea* from three regions of the wider Caribbean. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 362:85-98.
- Sekar R, Mills DK, Remily ER, Voss JD, Richardson LL (2006) Microbial communities in the surface mucopolysaccharide layer and the black band microbial mat of black band-diseased *Siderastrea siderea*. Appl Environ Microbiol 72:5963-5973.
- Sere M, Wilkinson DA, Schleyer MH, Chabanet P, Quod JP, Tortosa P (2016) Characterisation of an atypical manifestation of black band disease on *Porites lutea* in the Western Indian Ocean. PeerJ 4:e2073.
- Skindersoe ME, Ettinger-Epstein P, Rasmussen TB, Bjarnsholt T, de Nys R, Givskov M (2007) Quorum sensing antagonism from marine organisms. Marine biotechnology 10:56-63.
- Sutherland KP, Porter JW, Torres C (2004) Disease and immunity in Caribbean and Indo-Pacific zooxanthellate corals. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 266:273-302.
- Taga ME, Bassler BL (2003) Chemical communication among bacteria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:14549-14554.
- Tait K, Hutchison Z, Thompson FL, Munn CB (2010) Quorum sensing signal production and inhibition by coral-associated vibrios. Environmental Microbiology Reports 2:145-150.
- Taylor P, Golberg K, Pavlov V, Marks RS, Kushmaro A (2013) Coral-associated bacteria, quorum sensing disrupters, and the regulation of biofouling. Biofouling 29:37-41.
- Tomasz A, Hotchkiss RD (1964) Regulation of the transformability of pneumococcal cultures by macromolecular cell products. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 51:480-487.
- Van Houdt R, Givskov M, Michiels CW (2007) Quorum sensing in *Serratia*. FEMS Microbiol Rev 31:407-424.

- Viehman S, Mills DK, Meichel GW, Richardson LL (2006) Culture and identification of *Desulfovibrio* spp. from corals infected by black band disease on Dominican and Florida Keys reefs. Dis Aquat Org 69:119-27.
- Visick KL, Fuqua C (2005) Decoding microbial chatter: cell-cell communication in bacteria. J Bacteriol 187:5507-5519.
- Voss JD, Richardson LL (2006a) Coral diseases near Lee Stocking Island, Bahamas: Patterns and potential drivers. Dis Aquat Org 69:33-40.
- Voss JD, Richardson LL (2006b) Nutrient enrichment enhances black band disease progression in corals. Coral Reefs 25:569-576.
- Waters CM, Bassler BL (2005a) Quorum sensing: cell-to-cell communication in bacteria. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 21:319-46.
- Waters CM, Bassler BL (2005b) Quorum sensing: communication in bacteria. Annual Reviews in Cell Development Biology 21:319-346.
- Wegley L, Edwards R, Rodriguez-Brito B, Liu H, Rohwer F (2007) Metagenomic analysis of the microbial community associated with the coral *Porites astreoides*. Environ Microbiol 9:2707-2719.
- Weil E, Smith G, Gil-Agudelo D (2006) Status and progress in coral reef disease research. Dis Aquat Org 69:1-7.
- Williams P, Camara M, Hardman A, Swift S, Milton D, Hope VJ, Winzer K, Middleton B, Pritchard DI, Bycroft BW (2000) Quorum sensing and the population-dependent control of virulence. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 355:667-80.
- Williams P (2007) Quorum sensing, communication and cross-kingdom signaling in the bacterial world. Microbiology 153:3923-38.
- Wooldridge KG, Williams PH (1993) Iron uptake mechanisms of pathogenic bacteria. FEMS Microbiol Rev 12:325-348.
- Xavier KB, Bassler BL (2003) LuxS quorum sensing: more than just a numbers game. Curr Opin Microbiol 6:191-197.
- Yates EA, Philipp B, Buckley C, Chhabra SR, Sockett RE, Dessaux Y, Cámara M, Smith H, Atkinson S, Goldner M (2002) *N*-acylhomoserine lactones undergo lactonolysis in a pH-, temperature-, and acyl chain length-dependent manner during growth of *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Infect Immun 70:5635-5646.

- Zimmer BL (2012) Quorum sensing and microbial interactions in coral black band disease and coral-associated bacteria. Masters thesis.
- Zimmer BL, May AL, Bhedi CD, Dearth SP, Prevatte CW, Pratte Z, Campagna SR, Richardson LL (2014) Quorum sensing signal production and microbial interactions in a polymicrobial disease of corals and the coral surface mucopolysaccharide layer. PLoS One 9:e108541.

CHAPTER 2

INVESTIGATING THE PRODUCTION OF ACYL HOMOSERINE LACTONE (AHL) AND AUTOINDUCER-2 (AI-2) MOLECULES BY BLACK BAND DISEASE HETEROTROPHS

This chapter has been partially published:

Zimmer BL, May AL, **Bhedi CD**, Dearth SP, Prevatte CW, Pratte Z, Campagna SR, Richardson LL (2014) Quorum sensing signal production and microbial interactions in a polymicrobial disease of corals and the coral surface mucopolysaccharide layer. PLoS One 9:e108541.

Abstract

Black band disease (BBD) is a destructive disease of corals manifested as a dark band migrating over the coral colony, lysing coral tissue, and leaving behind bare coral skeleton. The polymicrobial mat is composed of cyanobacteria, sulfate reducers, sulfide oxidizers, and a wide variety of heterotrophic bacteria. Several studies have pointed towards the potential for the heterotrophs to be significant contributors to the pathogenicity of BBD. In the present study, heterotrophic bacteria from black band disease mat, the surface mucopolysaccharide layer (SML) of healthy coral and healthy part of the BBD infected coral were isolated and tested for their potential to produce quorum sensing signals (QSSs). Specifically, isolates were analyzed via LC-MS/MS for production of acyl homoserine lactones and (S)-4-5-dihydroxy-2,3-pentandione (DPD), the chemical precursor for autoinducer-2 (AI-2). Twelve bacterial isolates across coral health states showed production of AHLs, while nine produced DPD. The detection of these compounds indicated the active production of QSSs by heterotrophs in black band disease of corals. The potential influence of these QSSs in the organization and pathogenicity of the BBD community requires further investigation.

Introduction

Over the last three decades, global coral reef deterioration has been caused by several factors including global warming, ocean acidification, anthropogenic factors, water quality deterioration, over-fishing (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007; Harborne et al. 2017), and the foremost contributor to this decline has been coral disease. Black band disease is one such devastating coral disease, plaguing reef-building corals globally. The disease mat is a consortium of several operative groups of microbes that move across the coral

colony, lysing the coral tissue at a rate of 3 mm per day (Rützler et al. 1983). The collection of functional players of the black band mat includes photoautotrophic cyanobacteria (Rützler et al. 1983), primarily, Roseofilum reptotaenium (Casamatta et al. 2012), sulfate reducers such as *Desulfovibrio* sp. (Antonius 1981; Richardson 1996; Viehman et al. 2006), sulfide oxidizers such as Beggiatoa sp. (Ducklow and Mitchell 1979), marine fungi (Ramos-Flores 1983), archae (Sato et al. 2013), and a diverse assembly of heterotrophic bacteria (Ducklow and Mitchell 1979; Cooney et al. 2002; Frias-Lopez et al. 2004; Sekar et al. 2008). Black band disease heterotrophic bacteria have been proposed to include potential primary pathogens (Cooney et al. 2002; Frias-Lopez et al. 2002; Sekar et al. 2006). A meta-analysis of 16 scleractinian coral species across 87 BBD samples from the literature revealed the alpha- and gammaproteobacteria to be the most diversely represented groups amongst the BBD heterotrophic population (Miller and Richardson 2011). Bacteria in such large and diverse assemblages have been known to interact with one another in an intricate manner, to not only coexist but also potentially communicate with one another to exploit the environment for selfperpetuation. One such phenomenon of bacterial interaction is quorum sensing.

The first reported indication of a cell density dependent 'activator substance' causing competence of bacterial cells was described in the early 1960s (Tomasz and Hotchkiss 1964). Autoinduction in *Vibrio fischeri* was described as the cause of bioluminescence in the 1970s (Nealson et al. 1970; Nealson and Hastings 1979). 'Quorum sensing' (QS) as a term was coined much later in the 1990s (Fuqua et al. 1994). The unique phenomenon of bacterial communication was revealed to be facilitated by small molecular weight molecules called quorum sensing signals (QSSs) that are released into the environment

by bacterial cells upon reaching a certain cell number or 'quorum'. Several types and sub-types of QSSs produced by prokaryotes as well as eukaryotes have since been discovered and described in the literature. Communication via QSSs in bacteria induces gene expression of a variety of functional characteristics such as biofilm formation, motility, swarming, competence, production of virulence factors, antibiotics etc. (Williams 2007; Hmelo 2017). Such characteristics enable bacteria to adapt and evolve in concordance with the external environment, by conferring ecological advantages when competing in a harsh and complex milieu.

One of the most common and abundantly produced categories of prokaryotic QSSs is the acyl homoserine lactones (AHLs), produced by Gram-negative bacteria. These molecules serve to facilitate intra-species signaling amongst the bacteria producing these compounds. The chemical structure of an AHL molecule is comprised of a lactone ring, with an acyl side chain varying in chain length (C4-C20), saturation, and addition of functional groups (Decho et al. 2011). So far, hundreds of AHL variant molecules have been discovered (Decho et al. 2011), which enable bacteria to correspond precisely in polymicrobial environments.

The first evidence for interspecies communication was unearthed in the bacterium *Vibrio harveyi* (Greenberg et al. 1979), where the bioluminescence of the bacterium was found to be a function of a special signal molecule called AI-2 (Bassler et al. 1994). Since then, gene expression of an inordinate variety of prokaryotic and eukaryotic genes has been attributed to the AI-2 signaling system. The most common synthase-receptor complex in bacterial cells capable of producing and detecting AI-2 is LuxS-LuxP; however other receptor proteins such as LsrB and RbsB have also been recognized.

Apart from being a QSS, AI-2 is a byproduct of an integral biochemical reaction series in living cells called the activated methyl cycle (AMC). The AMC cycle is responsible for the recycling of the primary methyl-donating compound in living cells, namely *S*adenosylmethionine (SAM) (Schauder et al. 2001). The synthase, LuxI, utilizes SAM along with acyl substrates in the cell to manufacture AHL autoinducer molecules. The compound, SAM, undergoes a series of three reactions as part of the AMC, to be ultimately converted into (*S*)-4,5-dihydroxy-2,3-pentandione (DPD), the linear, unstable form of AI-2, by the synthase protein, LuxS (Bandara et al. 2012; Pereira et al. 2013).

Acyl homoserine lactones (AHLs) and AI-2 are the two most pertinent signal molecules produced by marine bacterial QS systems (Hmelo 2017). Bacteria in the phylum Proteobacteria are the most predominant synthesizers of AHLs in the bacterial world (Visick and Fuqua 2005). The diverse proteobacterial population within BBD makes investigating QSS production capabilities of the heterotrophic bacterial population within BBD and across coral health states pertinent as well as intriguing. In the present study, bacteria from BBD as well as healthy corals were tested for production of AHLs and DPD, the precursor molecule of AI-2. The results presented in this chapter have been published as part of Zimmer et al. (2014). Additional data (AHL and DPD detection in *Vibrio coralliilyticus* BAA-450, DPD detection and quantitation of all cultures over eight additional time-points, t=1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 hrs) are also presented here.

Materials and Methods

Sample collection and isolation

Black band disease (BBD) mat, SML from apparently healthy coral (HSML) and SML from apparently healthy part of BBD infected coral (BSML) were collected as previously

described (Zimmer et al. 2014; Bhedi et al. 2017). Samples were collected with sterile, needleless syringes (60 ml), from the Water Factory reef site in Curaçao (12° 06.799' N, 68° 57.662' W) from *Pseudodiploria strigosa* in February 2013 and from *Colpophyllia natans* at Horseshoe Reef, Florida Keys (25° 08.362' N, 80° 17.641' W) in September 2012. Samples in syringes were held in zip lock bags containing seawater at ambient temperatures in coolers until transfer to the laboratory at Florida International University, Miami, FL. The BBD mat was then rinsed in sterilized artificial seawater (ASW) to reduce seawater microbial contamination.

Bacteria from BBD were isolated by performing a dilution series up to 10⁻⁶ in sterilized ASW followed by plating and isolation of bacteria on Difco Marine Agar (MA) plates and sterile seawater tryptone agar. The biomass from the BBD mat was also streaked directly onto both media. Plates were incubated at room temperature (25 °C) and colonies were chosen on the basis of unique colony morphology and other characteristics (Zimmer et al. 2014).

Chromobacterium violaceum CV026 assay

A total of 46 bacterial BBD isolates were tested for detection of AHLs using the genetically modified *Chromobacterium violaceum* CV026 reporter strain. A bioassay with the reporter strain was conducted as described by (McClean et al. 1997) with slight modification (Zimmer et al. 2014; Bhedi et al. 2017) for testing the production of short and medium chain AHLs by the selected cultures. A 100 µl of freshly grown *C. violaceum* CV026 culture (18hrs at 35 rpm) was added to 5 ml of molten Luria Bertani (LB) medium (containing 0.7% agar) to create an overlay onto LB plates (1.5% agar). Test cultures grown on plates for 24-48 hrs were spotted onto the overlaid plates. Sterile
LB broth was spotted as a negative control onto each test plate while 0.01 µl of synthetic C6-AHL was used as a positive control (50 mM in ethanol). All assays were replicated thrice (Zimmer et al. 2014).

Extraction and LC-MS/MS detection of AHLs

Of the 46 BBD isolates tested, two strains tested positive in the CV026 assay. These two cultures along with nine isolates from Zimmer (2012) that also tested positive for QS signal production via CV026 and other QS signal bioreporter strains were used for LC-MS/MS analysis (Zimmer et al. 2014). Additionally, *Vibrio coralliilyticus* BAA-450 was investigated for its AHL production capacity.

The 12 cultures (6 BBD, 2 BSML, 3 HSML isolates and *V. coralliilyticus* BAA-450) were tested for AHLs via LC-MS/MS as described previously (Zimmer et al. 2014), at University of Tennessee, Knoxville in the laboratory of Dr. Shawn Campagna. Bacterial cultures were grown in duplicate for 24 hrs at 25 °C and 200 rpm in half strength marine broth (MB). After 24 hrs, aliquots of 10 ml were pipetted out and filtered through nylon filters (0.22 μ m), in duplicate, to create four replicates per bacterial isolate tested. After passing the filtrate through a separatory funnel and washing the funnel with 1 ml water, 5ml of acetic acid in ethyl acetate was added twice to extract the filtrate. Organic layers were then combined and filtered post drying with MgSO4. Concentration of the residual filtrate was achieved via vacuum and the residual oil was added to 300 μ l of acetic acid in ethyl acetate in an autosampler vial for processing via LC-MS/MS (Zimmer et al. 2014).

Extracted AHLs were processed and analyzed as described (Zimmer et al. 2014) employing the AHL detection method originally documented by (May et al. 2012). Ten μ l of the extract from the autosampler vials was injected onto a C18 reverse-phase core

shell column (5 μ m, 100 Å, 100 mm \times 2 mm). 0.1% acetic acid in water and 0.1% acetic

acid in acetonitrile were used for separation, at a 200µl min⁻¹ flow rate. Eluent was passed into a TSQ Quantum Ultra Triple Stage Quadrupole mass spectrometer using electrospray ionization. Multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) in a positive ion mode was used for detection. The AHLs were identified based on their precedence from literature and LC retention times. MSconvert algorithm (Proteowizard) was employed to convert .RAW files to .mzML (Kessner et al. 2008). Detection of peak intensities and generation of extracted ion chromatograms for each MRM was achieved using MAVEN (Melamud et al. 2010). Peaks were envisioned via an extraction window of 200 ppm and percentages of the AHLs were calculated from the integrated areas (Zimmer et al. 2014).

Detection and quantitation of DPD

The compound, DPD, was analyzed by methods described previously (Zimmer et al. 2014) using a documented protocol with some modifications (Campagna et al. 2009) at t=24 hrs, at University of Tennessee, Knoxville. Eppendorf tubes containing 10 μ l of ¹³C labeled DPD (used as the internal standard) were used for adding 300 μ l of the sample culture in order to achieve a final ¹³C-DPD concentration of 500 nM. After vortexing the contents in Eppendorf tubes, bacterial cells were pelleted out by centrifuging at 16.1 rcf for 1.5 min. 260 μ l of the supernatant was pipetted out into Eppendorf tubes containing 25 μ l of a DPD derivatizing solution (5 mg/ml) (Campagna et al. 2009). This was followed by vortexing the solution and resting for 45-60 min. Ethyl alcohol was used to extract the resulting solution twice. The extracts were combined and aliquoted into autosampler vials and stored at 4 °C until further analysis (Zimmer et al. 2014).

Samples over eight additional time-points were taken and analyzed for the present study (t=1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 hrs).

DPD analysis by LC-MS/MS

DPD analysis by LC-MS/MS was carried out as described in (Zimmer et al. 2014) at University of Tennessee, Knoxville. Ten μ l of extracted sample was injected onto a C18 Kinetex column (5 μ m, 100 Å, 100 mm \times 2.1 mm). Separation was achieved at a flow

rate of 200 µl min⁻¹ via an isocratic gradient of 5% HPLC grade acetonitrile and 95% of 0.1% acetic acid in HPLC grade water. The subsequent eluent was passed through a TSQ Quantum Ultra Triple Stage Quadrapole mass spectrometer using electrospray ionization. Similar to AHL detection, multiple reaction monitoring selected via positive mode was used for DPD detection (Campagna et al. 2009). Specifically, 381 *m/z*-202 *m/z* and 382 *m/z*-203 *m/z* were used as parent *m/z*-fragment *m/z* ratios and used for endogenous DPD-¹³C-DPD. The collision energy used for both was 43 (Zimmer et al. 2014).

Peaks were integrated with Xcalibur (Thermo Electron) and the concentration of DPD was analyzed by comparing peak areas of DPD in each sample with ¹³C-DPD and multiplying the concentration of the internal standard. Additionally, a correction factor accounting for presence of natural isotopes was also employed (Campagna et al. 2009; Zimmer et al. 2014).

Results

AHL detection across isolates via LC-MS/MS

A total of 12 bacterial cultures were tested for AHLs via LC-MS/MS. Of these 12

isolates, the AHL detection results of 11 isolates have been reported in (Zimmer et al. 2014). The results of the AHLs detected via LC-MS/MS are depicted as percentages in Figure 1. C6 was the most abundantly and commonly produced AHL across all isolates tested. A total of five cultures out of 12 produced C6, while four isolates produced the next most abundant AHL, 3OC4. Both C14 and 3OHC10 were produced by three isolates each. The non-hydroxylated counterpart of 3OHC10, i.e. C10, was produced by two isolates. Similarly, AHLs 3OHC4, C19:1 and C20 were also produced by two isolates. The rest of the AHLs, specifically 3OHC18, 3OHC6:1, 3OHC5 and 3OC6, were each produced by one isolate.

C6 was the highest produced AHL by all isolates producing it. The production of C6 by isolates ranged from 69-92%. BBD-CUR-3M8 was the highest producer of this AHL at 92%. 3OC4, the next most common AHL, was the most abundantly produced AHL by two out of four of its producing isolates and its percentage production ranged from 11-52%. The ranges for the next most abundantly produced AHL, 3OHC10, varied between 9% and 75% amongst three of its producing isolates. C14, which was also produced by three isolates, ranged in production between 19-45%. C10 was produced by HSML-FTL-9i at 70% with C10 being its most abundant AHL while the other C10 producer, BSML-FTL-61, contributed to its AHL production at 26%. 3OHC4 was produced by two isolates at 20% and 24% each while C19:1 ranged in its production between 12-19%. The longest chain AHL, 3OC20, was produced at 5% each by two isolates. The rest of the AHLs were produced just once across all 12 isolates.

One particular isolate from the apparently healthy part of the BBD infected coral, BSML-FTL-7l, produced 26 different AHLs that ranged in amounts between 0.6% and

14%. This was the only isolate tested which did not have any dominant AHL produced. All other isolates also produced several AHLs similarly in lesser amounts depicted as 'others' in Figure 1.

DPD detection and quantitation

Figure 2 shows DPD quantitation of the isolates tested across time-points (t=1 to t=8 hrs) at one-hour intervals and a final time point at t=24. Nine of the 12 isolates tested showed production of DPD. At t=1, all isolates had similar concentrations of DPD. Along successive time-points, BBD-FLK-1M2 increased DPD production to the greatest extent followed by BBD-CUR-3M8. Out of the twelve isolates, four isolates (BBD-FLK-1M2, BB-CUR-3M8, HSML-FTL-9c, *V. coralliilyticus* BAA-450) showed a consistent increase in DPD concentration upto t=8, followed by a marked decrease leading upto t=24. The remaining eight isolates showed a consistent increase upto t=8 and maintained the DPD concentration upto t=24.

Discussion

The results of the present study revealed, for the first time, the production of AHL and DPD molecules by cultured isolates from BBD heterotrophs (Zimmer 2012; Zimmer et al. 2014). Production of QSSs has been previously investigated in a number of other marine environments that include healthy corals (Van Houdt et al. 2007; Tait et al. 2010; Golberg et al. 2011; Ransome et al. 2014), diseased and bleached corals (Tait et al. 2010) sponges (Mohamed et al. 2008) and marine snow (Gram et al. 2002). The precise function of these QS systems within these marine environments, however, is not known. Within ocean waters, QSSs face several challenging environmental conditions with some being acutely unsuitable for signaling functions. For example, QSSs produced by

planktonic prokaryotic or eukaryotic cells are subjected to extensive dilution by mass transfer (Boyer and Wisniewski- Dyé 2009). This dilution increases the 'calling distance' amongst bacteria (Gantner et al. 2006) making it difficult for them to respond and activate QS-regulated genes. AHLs are particularly sensitive to alkaline environmental conditions as they undergo hydrolysis and are hence unable to function as a cue for microbes (Yates et al. 2002; Decho et al. 2009). AHLs with oxo- substitutions on the third carbon, as were detected in this study (3OC4, 3OC6, 3OC20), are capable of undergoing a condensation reaction to form tetrameric acids, that are inept of signaling capabilities (Kaufmann et al. 2005). Considering the oxygenated nature of the pelagic zone, AHLs may undergo these reactions and render themselves incapable of signaling.

Within the black band mat, the pH, redox potential and sulfide concentrations undergo diel fluctuations in concurrence with photosynthetic processes during the day and respiration during the night (Carlton and Richardson 1995; Zimmer et al., 2014; Sato et al. 2015). As a result of nocturnal accumulation of fermentation products within the mat, the pH in the mat drops, creating a more suitable environment for AHLs to function (Carlton and Richardson 1995; Decho et al. 2009). The diverse repertoire of AHLs detected, as produced by heterotrophs from the mat, may indicate the differential use of AHLs in conjunction with the diel chemical fluctuations within the mat. For instance, due to their higher structural stabilities, long chain AHLs may be employed more predominantly during the day when the pH is more alkaline (Decho et al. 2011). Redox flux may also possibly attenuate signaling capabilities of QSSs due to generation of reactive oxygen species created due to interaction of organic matter with sunlight (Cámara et al. 2002). Contradictory to the speculative fates of QSS molecules in the

ocean, studies have confirmed the relative stability of AHLs in sea-water (Hmelo and Van Mooy 2009). Additionally, the biofilm like properties of the mat may assist in concentrating the QSSs within BBD, facilitating a sufficient quorum of bacterial cells for signaling functions.

DPD was detected for all of the BBD isolates that were tested in this study. AI-2 has been implicated to be the universal signaling molecule allowing interspecies signaling amongst microbes (Miller and Bassler 2001). Although, in the present study, only heterotrophs were tested for their AI-2 production, it is reasonable to contemplate a role of interspecies communication amongst the different functional groups of prokaryotes within BBD via AI-2. The intricate and interconnected network of microbes is most likely necessary for disease proliferation in this polymicrobial disease. As was previously mentioned, AI-2 is the byproduct of a chemical reaction series of SAM in the AMC cycle (Schauder et al. 2001). Since SAM is the chief methyl donor for reactions involving growth and development within cells, production of AI-2 may be considered a fair indication of the metabolic standing of a cell (Xavier and Bassler 2003; Parveen and Cornell 2011).

The major AHL producers amongst marine bacteria across corals have been alphaand gammaproteobacteria, specifically *Vibrio* sp. and members of the *Roseobacter* clade (Cude and Buchan 2013; Milton 2006). In agreement with these results, the QSS producing isolates from this study were all found to be alpha- and gammaproteobacteria (see Zimmer et al. 2014). While QSSs were detected in cultures isolated across all coral health states, a higher number of bacteria from BBD (six isolates) produced QSS as compared to HSML (three isolates) and BSML (two isolates) health states. AHLs were

detected across all three coral health state isolates, while DPD was detected in BBD and HSML isolates only.

The presence of QSSs in bacteria isolated from BBD leads us to postulate the conceivable responsibilities of QS within BBD. QS has been shown to be involved in gene expression of biofilm formation and or/maintenance (Irie and Parsek 2008). The biofilm-like characteristics of the BBD mat may be contributed by exopolysaccharides secreted by QS bacteria. QS may aid in initiation and/or maintenance of the virulence factors in the mat community required for progression of this disease mat.

BBD heterotrophs include a large population of vibrios (Arotsker et al. 2015), which are known to produce QSSs. Vibrios are also known to produce metalloproteases responsible for tissue degradation (Arotsker et al. 2009). QS may additionally be involved in the production of antimicrobials that kill probiotic microbes within the SML of healthy corals, creating a niche to be taken over by pathogenic microbes. Certain QS bacterial systems in BBD may also be involved in production of inhibitor substances that interfere with QS systems of healthy coral associated bacteria.

At this point we can only speculate upon the plausible roles for QS in this intricate coral disease. However, the results of this study pave the way for further exploration of QS within BBD, in an effort to comprehend the mechanism of pathogenicity of this globally distributed, devastating coral disease.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Abigael Brownell and Zoe Pratte, for helping with sample collection.

References

- Antonius, A (1981) The 'band' diseases in coral reefs. Proc 4th Int Coral Reef Symp:7-14.
- Arotsker L, Kramarsky-Winter E, Ben-Dov E, Siboni N, Kushmaro A (2015) Changes in the bacterial community associated with black band disease in a Red Sea coral, *Favia* sp., in relation to disease phases. Dis Aquat Org 116:47-58.
- Arotsker L, Siboni N, Ben-Dov E, Kramarsky-Winter E, Loya Y, Kushmaro A (2009) *Vibrio* sp. as a potentially important member of the Black Band Disease (BBD) consortium in *Favia* sp. corals. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 70:515-524.
- Bandara HM, Lam OL, Jin LJ, Samaranayake L (2012) Microbial chemical signaling: a current perspective. Crit Rev Microbiol 38:217-249.
- Bassler BL, Wright M, Silverman MR (1994) Sequence and function of LuxO, a negative regulator of luminescence in *Vibrio harveyi*. Mol Microbiol 12:403-412.
- Bhedi CD, Prevatte CW, Lookadoo MS, Waikel PA, Gillevet PM, Sikaroodi M, Campagna SR, Richardson LL (2017) Elevated temperature enhances short to medium chain acyl homoserine lactone production by black band disease associated vibrios. FEMS Microbiol.Ecol. 93.
- Boyer M, Wisniewski- Dyé F (2009) Cell–cell signaling in bacteria: not simply a matter of quorum. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 70:1-19.
- Cámara M, Williams P, Hardman A (2002) Controlling infection by tuning in and turning down the volume of bacterial small-talk. Lancet Infect Dis 2:667-676.
- Campagna SR, Gooding JR, May AL (2009) Direct quantitation of the quorum sensing signal, autoinducer-2, in clinically relevant samples by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Chem 81:6374-81.
- Carlton RG, Richardson LL (1995) Oxygen and sulfide dynamics in a horizontally migrating cyanobacterial mat: Black band disease of corals. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 18:155-162.
- Casamatta D, Stanić D, Gantar M, Richardson LL (2012) Characterization of *Roseofilum reptotaenium* (Oscillatoriales, Cyanobacteria) gen. et sp. nov. isolated from Caribbean black band disease. Phycologia 51:1-14.

- Cooney RP, Pantos O, Le Tissier MD, Barer MR, O'Donnell AG, Bythell JC (2002) Characterization of the bacterial consortium associated with black band disease in coral using molecular microbiological techniques. Environ Microbiol 4:401-413.
- Cude WN, Buchan A (2013) Acyl-homoserine lactone-based quorum sensing in the *Roseobacter* clade : complex cell-to-cell communication controls multiple physiologies. Frontiers in Microbiology 4:336.
- Decho AW, Frey RL, Ferry JL (2011) Chemical challenges to bacterial AHL signaling in the environment. Chem Rev 111:86-99.
- Decho AW, Visscher PT, Ferry J, Kawaguchi T, He L, Przekop KM, Norman RS, Reid RP (2009) Autoinducers extracted from microbial mats reveal a surprising diversity of N-acylhomoserine lactones (AHLs) and abundance changes that may relate to diel pH. Environ Microbiol 11:409-20.
- Ducklow HW, Mitchell R (1979) Observations on naturally and artificially diseased tropical corals: A scanning electron microscope study. Microb Ecol 5:215-223.
- Frias-Lopez J, Klaus JS, Bonheyo GT, Fouke BW (2004) Bacterial community associated with black band disease in corals. Appl Environ Microbiol 70:5955-5962.
- Frias-Lopez J, Zerkle AL, Bonheyo GT, Fouke BW (2002) Partitioning of bacterial communities between seawater and healthy, black band diseased, and dead coral surfaces. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:2214-2228.
- Fuqua WC, Winans SC, Greenberg EP (1994) Quorum sensing in bacteria: The LuxR-LuxI family of cell density- responsive transcriptional regulators. J Bacteriol 176:269-275.
- Gantner S, Schmid M, Durr C, Schuhegger R, Steidle A, Hutzler P, Langebartels C, Eberl L, Hartmann A, Dazzo FB (2006) In situ quantitation of the spatial scale of calling distances and population density-independent *N*-acylhomoserine lactone-mediated communication by *Rhizobacteria* colonized on plant roots. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 56:188-194.
- Golberg K, Eltzov E, Shnit-Orland M, Marks RS, Kushmaro A (2011) Characterization of quorum sensing signals in coral-associated bacteria. Microb Ecol 61:783-792.
- Gram L, Grossart H, Schlingloff A, Kiørboe T (2002) Possible quorum sensing in marine snow bacteria: Production of acylated homoserine lactones by *Roseobacter* strains isolated from marine snow. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:4111-4116.
- Greenberg E, Hastings J, Ulitzur S (1979) Induction of luciferase synthesis in *Beneckea harveyi* by other marine bacteria. Arch Microbiol 120:87-91.

- Harborne AR, Rogers A, Bozec YM, Mumby PJ (2017) Multiple stressors and the functioning of coral reefs. Ann Rev Mar Sci 9:445-468.
- Hmelo L, Van Mooy B (2009) Kinetic constraints on acylated homoserine lactone-based quorum sensing in marine environments. Aquat Microb Ecol 54:127-133.
- Hmelo LR (2017) Quorum sensing in marine microbial environments. Ann Rev Mar Sci 9:257-281.
- Hoegh-Guldberg O, Mumby PJ, Hooten AJ, Steneck RS, Greenfield P, Gomez E, Harvell CD, Sale PF, Edwards AJ, Caldeira K, Knowlton N, Eakin CM, Iglesias-Prieto R, Muthiga N, Bradbury RH, Dubi A, Hatziolos ME (2007) Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. Science 318:1737 LP-1742.
- Irie Y, Parsek MR (2008) Quorum sensing and microbial biofilms *In* Bacterial biofilms. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp 67-84.
- Kaufmann GF, Sartorio R, Lee SH, Rogers CJ, Meijler MM, Moss JA, Clapham B, Brogan AP, Dickerson TJ, Janda KD (2005) Revisiting quorum sensing: Discovery of additional chemical and biological functions for 3-oxo-*N*-acylhomoserine lactones. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:309-314.
- Kessner D, Chambers M, Burke R, Agus D, Mallick P (2008) ProteoWizard: Open source software for rapid proteomics tools development. Bioinformatics 24:2534-2536.
- May AL, Eisenhauer ME, Coulston KS, Campagna SR (2012) Detection and quantitation of bacterial acylhomoserine lactone quorum sensing molecules via liquid chromatography-isotope dilution tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Chem 84:1243-1252.
- McClean KH, Winson MK, Fish L, Taylor A, Chhabra SR, Camara M, Daykin M, John H, Swift S, Bycroft BW, Stewart GSAB, Williams P (1997) Quorum sensing and *Chromobacteriurn violaceum*: exploitation of violacein production and inhibition for the detection of *N*-acyl homoserine lactones. Microbiology 143:3703-3711.
- Melamud E, Vastag L, Rabinowitz JD (2010) Metabolomic analysis and visualization engine for LC-MS data. Anal Chem 82:9818-9826.
- Miller AW, Richardson LL (2011) A meta-analysis of 16S rRNA gene clone libraries from the polymicrobial black band disease of corals. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 75:231-241.
- Miller MB, Bassler BL (2001) Quorum sensing in bacteria. Annu Rev Microbiol 55:165-199.

- Milton DL (2006) Quorum sensing in vibrios: Complexity for diversification. International Journal of Medical Microbiology 296:61-71.
- Mohamed NM, Cicirelli EM, Kan J, Chen F, Fuqua C, Hill RT (2008) Diversity and quorum-sensing signal production of *Proteobacteria* associated with marine sponges. Environ Microbiol 10:75-86.
- Nealson KH, Hastings JW (1979) Bacterial bioluminescence: its control and ecological significance. Microbiol Rev 43:496-518.
- Nealson KH, Platt T, Hastings JW (1970) Cellular control of the synthesis and activity of the bacterial luminescent system. J Bacteriol 104:313-322.
- Parveen N, Cornell KA (2011) Methylthioadenosine/S- adenosylhomocysteine nucleosidase, a critical enzyme for bacterial metabolism. Mol Microbiol 79:7-20.
- Pereira CS, Thompson JA, Xavier KB (2013) AI-2-mediated signaling in bacteria. FEMS Microbiol Rev 37:156-181.
- Ramos-Flores T (1983) Lower marine fungus associated with black line disease in star corals (*Montastrea annularis*, E. & S.). Biol Bull 165:429-435.
- Ransome E, Munn CB, Halliday N, Cámara M, Tait K (2014) Diverse profiles of *N*-acylhomoserine lactone molecules found in cnidarians. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 87:315-329.
- Richardson LL (1996) Horizontal and vertical migration patterns of *Phormidium corallyticum* and *Beggiatoa* spp. associated with black-band disease of corals. Microb Ecol 32:323-335.
- Rützler K, Santavy DL, Antonius A (1983) The black band disease of Atlantic reef corals. Mar Ecol 4:329-358.
- Sato Y, Civiello M, Bell SC, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2015) Integrated approach to understanding the onset and pathogenesis of black band disease in corals. Environ Microbiol 18:752-765.
- Sato Y, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2013) Pyrosequencing-based profiling of archaeal and bacterial 16S rRNA genes identifies a novel archaeon associated with black band disease in corals. Environ Microbiol 15:2994-3007.
- Schauder S, Shokat K, Surette MG, Bassler BL (2001) The LuxS family of bacterial autoinducers: biosynthesis of a novel quorum- sensing signal molecule. Mol Microbiol 41:463-476.

- Sekar R, Kaczmarsky LT, Richardson LL (2008) Microbial community composition of black band disease on the coral host *Siderastrea siderea* from three regions of the wider Caribbean. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 362:85-98.
- Sekar R, Mills DK, Remily ER, Voss JD, Richardson LL (2006) Microbial communities in the surface mucopolysaccharide layer and the black band microbial mat of black band-diseased *Siderastrea siderea*. Appl Environ Microbiol 72:5963-5973.
- Tait K, Hutchison Z, Thompson FL, Munn CB (2010) Quorum sensing signal production and inhibition by coral-associated vibrios. Environmental Microbiology Reports 2:145-150.
- Tomasz A, Hotchkiss RD (1964) Regulation of the transformability of pneumococcal cultures by macromolecular cell products. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 51:480-487.
- Viehman S, Mills DK, Meichel GW, Richardson LL (2006) Culture and identification of *Desulfovibrio* spp. from corals infected by black band disease on Dominican and Florida Keys reefs. Dis Aquat Org 69:119-27.
- Visick KL, Fuqua C (2005) Decoding microbial chatter: cell-cell communication in bacteria. J Bacteriol 187:5507-5519.
- Williams P (2007) Quorum sensing, communication and cross-kingdom signaling in the bacterial world. Microbiology 153:3923-38.
- Xavier KB, Bassler BL (2003) LuxS quorum sensing: more than just a numbers game. Curr Opin Microbiol 6:191-197.
- Yates EA, Philipp B, Buckley C, Chhabra SR, Sockett RE, Dessaux Y, Cámara M, Smith H, Atkinson S, Goldner M (2002) N-acylhomoserine lactones undergo lactonolysis in a pH-, temperature-, and acyl chain length-dependent manner during growth of *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Infect Immun 70:5635-5646.
- Zimmer BL (2012) Quorum sensing and microbial interactions in coral black band disease and coral-associated bacteria. Masters thesis.
- Zimmer BL, May AL, Bhedi CD, Dearth SP, Prevatte CW, Pratte Z, Campagna SR, Richardson LL (2014) Quorum sensing signal production and microbial interactions in a polymicrobial disease of corals and the coral surface mucopolysaccharide layer. PLoS One 9:e108541.

Figure 2-1: Production of AHLs in percentages across isolates as analyzed via LC-MS/MS. 'Others' included AHLs that were produced at levels less than 14% of the total amount



Figure 2-2: DPD detection and quantitation across isolates over time as detected using LC-MS/MS. DPD concentration measured at 0 hour was subtracted from samples and all values were log₁₀ transformed. Samples were taken at 0, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 24 hrs.



CHAPTER 3

ELEVATED TEMPERATURE ENHANCES SHORT TO MEDIUM CHAIN ACYL HOMOSERINE LACTONE PRODUCTION BY BLACK BAND DISEASE VIBRIOS

This study has been published as is:

Bhedi CD, Prevatte CW, Lookadoo MS, Waikel PA, Gillevet PM, Sikaroodi M, Campagna SR, Richardson LL (2017) Elevated temperature enhances short to medium chain acyl homoserine lactone production by black band disease associated vibrios. FEMS Microbiol.Ecol. 93 (3): fix005. doi: 10.1093/femsec/fix005. Copyright © Oxford Academic Press

Abstract

Black band disease (BBD) of corals is a horizontally migrating, pathogenic, polymicrobial mat community which is active above a temperature threshold of 27.5° C on the reef. Bacterial isolates from BBD, the surface mucopolysaccharide layer (SML) of healthy corals, and SML of healthy areas of BBD infected corals were tested for production of short to medium chain acyl homoserine lactones (AHLs) using the Chromobacterium violaceum CV026 reporter strain. Of 110 bacterial isolates tested, 19 produced AHLs and 15 of these were from BBD. Eight AHLs were identified using LC-MS/MS, with 30HC4 the most commonly produced, followed by C6. AHL-producing isolates exposed to three temperatures (24°, 27°, 30° C) revealed that production of three AHLs (30HC4, 30HC5, and 30HC6) significantly increased at 30° C when compared to 24°C. 16S rRNA gene sequencing revealed that all of the AHL producing BBD isolates were vibrios. Metagenomic data of BBD communities showed the presence of AHL (and autoinducer-2) genes, many of which are known to be associated with vibrios. These findings suggest that quorum sensing may be involved in BBD pathobiology and community structure due to enhanced production of quorum sensing signal molecules (AHLs) above the temperature threshold of this globally distributed coral disease.

Introduction

There has been a significant decline in coral cover and diversity on tropical and subtropical reefs worldwide and one of the foremost contributing factors has been coral disease (Bourne *et al.* 2009). Disease could affect the coral animal itself or one or more of its associates, including bacteria, fungi, endolithic algae, zooxanthallae, protozoa, and other partners, collectively termed the coral holobiont (Rowan 1998; Rohwer *et al.* 2002).

The diverse and host specific coral-associated microbial community is harbored within the tissue, skeleton, and protective surface mucopolysaccharide layer (SML) secreted by the coral epidermal mucus cells (Johannes 1967; Ritchie and Smith 2004). Interactions within this microbial community have been proposed to be cooperative as well as antagonistic in nature and its members have been proposed to be potentially pathogenic and/or probiotic (Rosenberg *et al.* 2007; Teplitski and Ritchie 2009).

The composition and taxonomy of microbial communities of the SML layer of apparently healthy corals have been well researched (Ritchie and Smith 1995; Rohwer *et al.* 2001; Frias-Lopez *et al.* 2002, 2004; Beleneva *et al.* 2005; Sekar *et al.* 2006; De Castro *et al.* 2010; Cróquer *et al.* 2013; Krediet *et al.* 2013; Lins-de-Barros *et al.* 2013; Lee *et al.* 2015; Glasl *et al.* 2016). Such studies have shown that there is a shift in the heterotrophic microbial population within the SML when corals are stressed, including in the case of disease (Ritchie and Smith 1995; Frias-Lopez *et al.* 2002; De Castro *et al.* 2010; Mao-Jones *et al.* 2010; Cróquer *et al.* 2013).

One of the most destructive and intricate coral diseases is black band disease (BBD) (Richardson 2004). It is also one of the most widely distributed diseases, affecting sixty-four species of corals and exhibiting coral host and geographic specificity (Frias-Lopez *et al.* 2003; Sutherland *et al.* 2004; Voss *et al.* 2007; Miller and Richardson 2011). The disease manifests as a dark pigmented (phycoerythrin) band volumetrically dominated by a dense population of the gliding, filamentous cyanobacterium *Roseofilum reptotaenium* (Casamatta *et al.* 2012; Richardson *et al.* 2014), and consists of a highly variable polymicrobial consortium of microbes that contains four known functional groups: photoautotrophs (cyanobacteria) (Rützler *et al.* 1983), sulfate-reducing bacteria (Garrett

and Ducklow 1975), sulfide-oxidizing bacteria (Ducklow and Mitchell 1979), and heterotrophs (Garrett and Ducklow 1975). By far, the heterotrophic bacteria have been found to be the most taxonomically rich and varied community within the disease consortium (Miller and Richardson 2011). Several research groups have proposed that this diverse set of microbes includes potential primary, as well as secondary, pathogens (Cooney *et al.* 2002; Frias-Lopez *et al.* 2002; Sekar *et al.* 2006, 2008; Mao-Jones *et al.* 2010).

A number of studies have targeted BBD heterotrophic bacteria. Bacterial 16S rRNA gene clone libraries demonstrated shifts in bacterial ribotypes during transitions from cyanobacterial patches (CP) shown to develop into BBD on corals on the Great Barrier Reef (GBR) (Sato *et al.* 2010). In these studies, α -proteobacteria-affiliated sequences were dominant in CP libraries, whereas γ -proteobacterial ribotypes became more abundant after transition to the BBD community (Sato *et al.* 2010). The CP-to-BBD transition has only been seen on reefs of the GBR. In other studies, α -proteobacteria were found to be the most diversely represented group of bacteria as determined by a meta-analysis of clone libraries produced from 87 BBD samples collected on reefs world-wide (Miller and Richardson 2011).

BBD most actively infects corals when the sea water temperature rises above 27.5 °C (Edmunds 1991; Kuta and Richardson 1996; Voss and Richardson 2006; Sato *et al.* 2015). Since bacterial species and communities have stringent tolerance thresholds regarding the environment (including temperature), any change in surroundings surpassing a threshold may lead to a perturbation of the delicate relationship with a host. Environmental factors can also lead to decreased host health and fitness, and an increase

in temperature has been shown to cause a switch from a symbiotic to a pathogenic role in some host-associated microbes (Webster *et al.* 2008). In several cases this transition has been shown to be controlled by quorum sensing (Jayaraman and Wood 2008).

Quorum sensing is a type of pheromone-based cell to cell communication system that is often density regulated and that allows bacteria to converse with the aid of chemically synthesized signal molecules called autoinducers (AIs) (Nealson *et al.* 1970; Nealson and Hastings 1979). It has been noted that QS systems in vibrios often integrate information, including environmental parameters, with cell density (Lyell *et al.* 2013). Quorum sensing as a phenomenon is responsible for regulating a wide range of bacterial behaviors that include virulence, bioluminescence, biofilm maintenance and maturation, motility, symbiosis, antibiotic synthesis, exoenzyme production, and swarming (Eberhard *et al.* 1981; Pirhonen *et al.* 1993; Zhang *et al.* 1993; Eberl *et al.* 1996; Davies *et al.* 1998; Bassler 1999).

Different bacteria synthesize different AIs and release them into the environment. After extracellular accumulation of AI molecules reaches a threshold (the "quorum" in quorum sensing), bacteria regulate their behavior to coordinate expression of specific genes to adapt and thrive in that specific environment. This is achieved by inducing production of an array of physiological and functional adaptations (De Kievit and Iglewski 2000; Miller and Bassler 2001; March and Bentley 2004; Jayaraman and Wood 2008; Dobretsov *et al.* 2009; Li and Tian 2012; Lee and Zhang 2014).

Gram negative bacteria capable of quorum sensing primarily produce acyl homoserine lactone (AHL) signaling molecules which have a fatty acid (acyl) side chain attached to a homoserine lactone ring (Fuqua *et al.* 2001). The side chain varies on the

basis of length, saturation and presence/absence of functional groups, creating a suite of AHL molecules that bacteria use to communicate in complex environments (Fuqua et al. 2001). While some bacteria synthesize unique AHLs, many different bacteria can also synthesize the same AHL, allowing for intra- and inter-species signaling and potential coordination between different bacterial genera as well as species (Miller and Bassler 2001). Various factors such as temperature, pH, oxygen availability, and redox state have been known to affect QS regulation and QS regulatory gene expression (Decho et al. 2010; Frederix and Downie 2011). Some of these factors also affect the AHL molecules themselves. For example, as the side chain length increases, the solubility of the AHL molecule decreases while the stability increases (Yates et al. 2002; Decho et al. 2009). In some cases the structural integrity of the homoserine lactone ring has been observed to be reversibly susceptible to alkaline conditions, affecting long chain AHLs to a lesser extent (Voelkert and Grant 1970; Yates et al. 2002; Decho et al. 2009). This is significant in terms of environmental influence since lactone ring hydrolysis disables the AHL molecule from signaling (Decho et al. 2009).

Recent studies have begun to investigate the role of QS within the coral holobiont (Van Houdt *et al.* 2007; Tait *et al.* 2010; Alagely *et al.* 2011; Golberg *et al.* 2011; Hunt *et al.* 2012; Kimes *et al.* 2012; Tello *et al.* 2012; Ransome *et al.* 2014; Zimmer *et al.* 2014) as well as other marine invertebrates (Britstein *et al.* 2016). Kimes *et al.* (2012) tested the effect of temperature on AHL production by coral-associated vibrios, and showed that different strains of vibrios varied their AHL production with temperature. Yates *et al.* (2002) had previously shown that increasing temperature increased the rate of homoserine lactone ring opening, resulting in reduction in the production of intact AHLs.

Healthy and diseased coral-associated bacterial isolates, particularly vibrios, were found to produce both AHLs and AI-2 (Tait *et al.* 2010), and the coral pathogen *Serratia marcescens* was shown to utilize AHL-QS systems for regulating a range of virulence factors, including biofilm formation (Van Houdt *et al.* 2007). AHLs, mostly short and medium chain length, were recently shown to be produced by 6% of BBD bacterial isolates tested, as well being present in all samples of freshly collected BBD mat (Zimmer *et al.* 2014).

The nature of the complex polymicrobial BBD is one in which BBD microbial groups interact with one another as well as bacteria living in the coral SML, tissue and skeleton. To assess a potential role of quorum sensing in BBD etiology, both laboratory (physiological and analytical) and genetic approaches can be used. While this study focused on use of physiological and analytical methods, we recognize that metagenomics is also a powerful approach that can potentially reveal which quorum sensing genes are present in the BBD community, and which specific QS signal molecules are likely to be expressed as the result of genes present for complete biosynthetic pathways. A number of whole genome sequencing studies have been carried out to study coral metagenomics (Wegley *et al.* 2007; Dinsdale *et al.* 2008), coral stress conditions (Vega Thurber *et al.* 2008; Carlos *et al.* 2013; Lesser and Jarett, 2014) and associated with coral diseases such as white plague (Garcia *et al.* 2013) and bleaching (Littman *et al.* 2011). However, to our knowledge, no metagenomics study has addressed the potential role of QS in BBD.

This study extends the research on BBD to examine the variation of QS (AHL) molecules produced by laboratory cultures of BBD and coral-associated bacteria in

response to environmental (temperature) changes, including a comparison of AHLs produced across different coral health states. As mentioned above, BBD is typically observed in summers when sea water temperatures exceed 27.5 °C (Kuta and Richardson 1996; Voss and Richardson 2006). Therefore, we examined AHL production at temperatures close to, above, and below this threshold. Metagenomics data produced from BBD samples were also assessed to determine the presence and nature of quorum sensing genes in the BBD mat to supplement and interpret the results from the culture dependent methods.

Materials and Methods

Field sampling and isolation of bacteria

Samples of black band disease (BBD), apparently healthy SML from a BBD infected coral (BSML) and SML from an apparently healthy coral (HSML) were collected from colonies of *Montastraea cavernosa* located on Algae Reef in the northern Florida Keys, USA (N 25' 08.799' W 80' 17.579'). Sterile needleless 60 ml syringes were used for sampling. BBD mat and SML were suctioned off of the coral host with slight agitation, after which the syringes were capped. BSML samples were collected at a minimum distance of 10 cm from the BBD mat. HSML samples were collected from an adjacent (healthy) colony of the same species. Once on the boat, syringes with samples were held in coolers containing sea water at ambient temperature and transported to the shore. BBD mat and SML were then transferred to sterilized artificial sea water (ASW) to minimize contamination from sea water bacteria.

Isolation of bacteria from three coral health states

Heterotrophic bacteria were isolated from samples of each of the three coral health conditions. Dilution series (10⁻¹ to 10⁻⁶) of BBD, HSML and BSML samples were prepared using filtered sea water and incubated at both room temperature and 30° C under a 12 hours light:12 hours dark regime. 100 µl from dilution tubes 10⁻³, 10⁻⁴, 10⁻⁵ and 10⁻⁶ were plated every day for a period of seven days and incubated at 30 °C. Direct streaking from the original mat and SML samples was also carried out. All plating was onto Difco marine agar (MA) and sea water tryptone (SWT) agar plates (0.5% tryptone, 0.3% glycerol, 0.3% yeast extract, 1.5% agar in 70% sea water) (Boettcher and Ruby 1990), in triplicate. Uniquely distinct colonies were chosen based on colony color and morphology followed by streaking for purification via plating onto the same medium.

Chromobacterium violaeum CV026 AHL reporter strain assay

QS signal production capabilities were tested using the reporter strain *Chromobacterium violaceum* CV026 using an agar overlay method with some modifications (McClean *et al.* 1997, Zimmer *et al.* 2014). This strain is used to detect the presence of short to medium chain AHLs, particularly C4-AHL, 3-oxo-C4-AHL, C6-AHL, 3-oxo-C6-AHL, C8-AHL and 3-oxo-C8-AHL (McClean *et al.* 1997; Steindler and Venturi 2007), and was used based on earlier results (Zimmer *et al.* 2014) in which it was determined that BBD isolates produce mainly short/medium chain length AHLs. Test isolates were grown overnight (18 hrs) on MA at room temperature (25° C). The *C. violaceum* CV026 biosensor strain was also grown overnight in 5 ml Luria Bertani (LB) broth at 30° C with shaking at 35 rpm. Test plates consisted of a basal layer of LB medium overlaid with 5 ml of molten LB with 100 µl of the freshly grown overnight broth culture of *C. violaceum* CV026. For a positive control 0.01µl of 50 mM synthetic *N*-hexanoyl-L-homoserine lactone solution in ethanol was used while sterile LB broth served as negative control. All assays were carried out in triplicate. All results were analyzed statistically using the proportion t-test for significance ($p \le 0.05$).

AHL production and temperature variation

Isolates that tested positive for production of AHLs using the C. violaceum CV026 assay were further tested for the effect of temperature on AHL production by exposing isolates to three different temperatures (24 °C, 27 °C and 30 °C). For each temperature, 25 ml aliquots of freshly made half strength marine broth (MB) were prepared in 125 ml Erlenmeyer flasks. Half strength MB was used in order to avoid clogging of the LC column (see below) due to particulate matter in this growth media. Flasks were inoculated in duplicate with 500 μ l of culture freshly grown (overnight) at each respective temperature $(24^{\circ}\text{C}, 27^{\circ}\text{C} \text{ and } 30^{\circ}\text{C})$ with shaking (250 rpm). One ml of sample was then aliquoted every two hours from each flask at t = 0, 2, 4, 6, and 8, and 10 hours. At every time point for every sample, OD was measured (600 nm) and 500 μ l of sample was added to an eppendorf tube containing deuterated AHL internal standards that consisted of (D2)C4, (D2)3OHC4, (D2)C6, (D2)C3OC6, (D2)C7, (D2)C8, (D2)C12, (D2)3OHC12:1 and (D2)C14 that were synthesized as previously described in (May et al. 2012). This was done in duplicate to generate a total of four samples per isolate per time point per temperature. The eppendorf tubes were then centrifuged for 1 min at $20,000 \times g$ to spin down bacterial cells, after which 500 μ l of the supernatant were placed in autosampler vials and kept at -80 °C until further processing.

LC-MS/MS analysis of QS signals

AHL extraction and analysis were carried out using an LC-MS/MS method optimized for AHL recognition (May et al. 2012) using previously reported methods (Zimmer et al. 2014) with slight modifications. Briefly, each sample was kept in an autosampler (Thermo Electron Surveyor) at 4°C before injection of 10 µl of the sample onto a reverse-phase C18 core-shell column (5 µm pore size, 100 Å particle size, 100 mm x 2 mm or 2.1 µm pore size, 100 Å particle size, 100 mm x 2 mm). A gradient of 0.1% acetic acid in water and 0.1% acetic acid in acetonitrile at a 200 µl min-1 flow rate was used to elute and separate the analytes, which were then introduced into a TSQ Quantum Ultra Triple Stage Quadrupole mass spectrometer using electrospray ionization. Multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) in positive ion mode was used for compound detection, annotation and identification. Specifically, the method screened for 54 unique parent m/z-fragment m/z pairs based on neutral loss of the acyl chain giving common 102 m/z fragment corresponding to the common homoserine lactone of all AHLs. The method includes masses corresponding to chain lengths ranging from 4 to 20 carbons with the possibility of one hydroxyl or ketone at the 3-position as well as one double bond in the chain. Note: MRM alone is unable to differentiate between compounds with the same parent m/z-fragment m/z pairs (e.g., 30C6-HSL and C7-HSL). To circumvent this, further chemical (such as LC retention time) and biological (precedence for the compound in the literature) information was used to annotate structures for AHLs for which standards were not available as previously reported (Zimmer et al. 2014). Unique parent m/z-fragment m/z pairs were assessed to confirm the presence of AHL molecules.

Using Proteowizard's MSconvert algorithm, the .RAW files were converted to

.mzML (Kessner *et al.* 2008). MAVEN was used to detect and report peak intensities and to generate extracted ion chromatograms (EICs) for each MRM (Melamud *et al.* 2010). To envision the peaks, an EIC extraction window of 200 ppm was used and the area for each AHL was integrated, which was further used to detect relative abundance and percentage of each detected AHL.

16S rRNA gene sequencing of isolates

The genomic DNA of cultured bacterial isolates was extracted using the FastDNA Spin Kit for Soil, according to the manufacturer's protocol or alternatively by adding an individual purified colony in 100 µl of sterile phosphate buffered saline (PBS) heating at 95 °C for 10 min followed by centrifugation for 10 min at 5000 g (modified from Zimmer et al. 2014). PCR amplification of DNA was carried out using the universal bacterial primers 27F 5'-AGA GTT TGA TCM TGG CTC AG-3'and 1492R 5'-TAC GGY TAC CTT GTT ACG ACT T-3' in a Peltier Thermal Cycler. Amplified bacterial 16S rDNA was cleaned using the ExoSAP-IT PCR cleanup kit followed by sequencing with an ABI Prism[™] 3100 genetic analyzer at the DNA Core Facility at Florida International University using the BigDye® Terminator. Sequence trimming and cleaning, followed by alignment and assembly was carried out using DNA Baser Sequence Assembler (Zimmer et al. 2014). The sequences (1300-1500 bp) were then queried using the BLAST queuing system (Altschul et al. 1990) in order to find their closest relatives from NCBI GenBank. Sequences have been submitted to GenBank database under the accession numbers KX146440- KX146449 and KX353776-KX353778.

Phylogenetic tree

All 16S rRNA sequences of isolates used in the present study and their closest hits in NCBI GenBank were aligned using MUSCLE (<u>www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/muscle/</u>) (Edgar *et al.* 2004). The aligned FASTA sequences of isolates and their closest relatives were manually edited using M7 Alignment explorer featured in MEGA version 4 (Tamura *et al.* 2007). A maximum likelihood phylogenetic analysis was carried out with bootstrap analysis using MEGA (Tamura *et al.* 2007).

Metagenomics

Samples of BBD for metagenomics were collected from BBD infected *Colpophyllia natans* (Horseshoe Reef, northern Florida Keys, August 2013) and *Pseudodiploria strigosa* (Curaçao, off shore of the CARMABI research station, May 2013). Samples were collected with sterile 10 ml syringes and placed in RNA-later, frozen at -80°C and sent for whole genome sequencing. A paired end sequencing was performed in a single lane on the Illumina HiSeq. The paired ends were sequenced with an insert size of 500 bp. We obtained an average of 12 million reads per sample with a read length of 150 base pairs. The metagenomics datasets were uploaded onto the Metagenomics RAST (MG-RAST) server (http://metagenomics.anl.gov/). MG-RAST is a public resource for the automatic phylogenetic and functional analysis of metagenomes (Meyer *et al.* 2008). The presence of QS genes was assessed by using subsystems with MG-RAST (Max. e-value cutoff = 10-5, Min. % identity cutoff = 60%, Min. alignment length cutoff = 40 amino acids) with averages calculated as per Wilke *et al.* 2013.

Results

Bacterial isolates and detection of short to medium chain AHLs

A total of 110 pure cultures of heterotrophic bacteria were isolated from BBD infected and healthy coral colonies (Table 1). Of these, 36 were from the BBD mat, 36 from the apparently healthy part of the BBD infected coral (BSML), and 38 from an apparently healthy coral (HSML). Each isolate was tested for QS signal production using the *Chromobacterium violaceum* CV026 bioassay. Among the 110 isolates, 19 tested positive in the QS assay, consisting of 15 BBD isolates and two each from HSML and BSML (Table 1). HSML and BSML isolates had similar percentages of isolates that tested positive for QS, 5.3% (2 out of 38) and 5.6% (2 out of 36) respectively. The percentage of QS positive isolates from BBD in comparison was approximately seven times higher at 41.7% (15 of 36). When comparing QS producing isolates between BBD vs. HSML and BBD vs. BSML, a significant ($p \le 0.05$) difference in proportions was detected.

Variety and abundance of AHLs across different temperatures

Isolates that tested positive for AHL signal production were investigated further (Tables 2 and 3). Data are reported for 13 of the 15 BBD isolates and one of the two BSML isolates that tested positive in the *C. violaceum* assay since these three isolates did not grow during the additional experiments. The isolates tested were identified by 16S rRNA gene sequencing (Table 2) and analyzed using LC-MS/MS to identify specific AHLs (Table 3). All of the isolates that were able to be grown for sequencing were found to be *Vibrio* species (Table 2 and Figure 1). It should be noted that although several

Vibrio harveyi and *Vibrio* spp. are listed in Table 2, they are different strains with different 16S rRNA gene sequences.

AHLs produced by the isolates were identified and quantified across three temperatures (24 °C, 27 °C and 30 °C) across six time points (t = 0, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10 hours). Data (Table 3) are reported in amounts of relative abundance of AHLs per isolate, with relative amounts also indicated in Figure 1. 3OHC4 was found to be produced by the highest number of isolates (14 out of 16), followed by C6 (6 out of 16), 3OHC5 and 3OHC6 (each 5 out of 16). Comparing relative quantities (per isolate), the production of 3OHC4 was approximately 10 times more than that of the next most abundantly produced AHL, C6 (data not shown), followed by 3OHC5 and 3OHC6. The longest chain AHL (3OC12) detected in this study was produced by two isolates (isolates 15 and 16), both from HSML. C5, 3OC5:1 and 3OHC8 were the rarest, each with one isolate producing it in combination with other AHLs.

Of the 16 isolates, one isolate produced only one AHL, identified as C6 (Table 3). Eleven isolates produced two AHLs and four isolates produced three AHLs. The two HSML isolates produced the same three AHLs (30HC4, 30HC6 and 30C12) but in varying percentages. Most of the AHL production by the sole BSML isolate tested was contributed by 30HC4 (99.2%).

At each sampling, the OD for each isolate was measured to assess any correlation between AHL production and the stage of growth of that isolate. There was no correlation between AHL production and growth phase (data not shown).

Table 4 compiles statistically significant results ($p \le 0.05$) from univariate ANOVA analysis of all isolates, and the AHLs produced by each isolate, based on comparing

temperatures. In each case, all AHLs produced were pooled for each isolate, and AHL production values across all time-points were taken together across all replicates. Isolates with non-significant differences in AHL production across temperature, and temperature comparisons that were non-significant for a particular AHL, are not shown in Table 4. AHLs 3OHC4, 3OHC5, 3OHC6, and 3OC5:1 had significant differences within all three temperature comparisons for 10 of the 16 AHL positive isolates. All isolates that produced 3OHC4 and 3OHC5 showed significantly higher production at 30°C as compared to 24 °C, while 3OHC6 did so inconsistently across the isolates that produced this AHL. 3OC5:1 had a significant difference only when comparing temperatures 24 °C vs. 27 °C (Table 4) with production higher at 24 °C; however, it is noteworthy that this result pertained to only one isolate that produced this AHL (isolate no. 2).

Table 5 shows relative AHL production among isolates (all time-points pooled) when comparing production at 24 °C vs 30 °C (below and above the temperature threshold of BBD on the reef). Only data that were significant ($p \le 0.05$) are shown, representing six of the 16 tested. Of these six, five were from BBD and one from BSML (isolate no. 14). In each case, AHL production was significantly higher at 30 °C when compared to 24 °C. The elevated production above the BBD temperature threshold was seen for three AHLs, with 3OHC5 by far the most common.

Comparison of short to medium chain AHLs across three coral health states

BBD isolates, in addition to constituting the sample group with the highest number of QS producing isolates (Table 2), produced the largest variety of AHLs when compared to isolates from the other two coral health states (Table 6). AHLs 3OHC4 and 3OHC6 were produced by isolates from all three health states. These AHLs were also

two of the three that varied significantly in terms of temperature (Table 5). As noted above, 3OHC4 was the most commonly produced AHL among all isolates (Table 3).

Metagenomics

Table 7 presents all proteins and their ascribed functions associated with QS genes that were identified using MG-RAST within the BBD metagenome samples from the Florida Keys and Curaçao. As is evident, many of the identified QS genes were found to be those associated with vibrios. The *luxI*, *rhlL* and *luxR* genes identified under the subset of 'AHL autoinducer QS' are not associated with any particular bacterial genus.

QS associated functional sequences were differentially found within the two BBD metagenomes. Both *luxI* and *luxR* genes associated with AHL synthesis were found in both samples, while *rhlL*, another AHL synthase, was found to be present only in the Florida Keys BBD metagenome. Four *Vibrio*-associated QS genes were found exclusively in the Florida Keys metagenome, specifically *cqsA*, *luxP*, *luxM* and *hapR*. Other QS genes (*luxI*, *luxR*, *luxO*, *luxS* and *uvrY*) were found in both metagenomes. A particular *N*-homoserine lactone hydrolase (associated with QS in *Yersinia*) was uniquely present in either of the two metagenomes (*vfr* in Curaçao metagenome and *rhlR* in Florida Keys metagenome). The results of the QS genes in the BBD metagenome and this study (mainly vibrios) in that a high number of *Vibrio*-associated QS genes were present in the metagenomes.

Discussion

One of the most interesting findings of this study was the fact that, by far, isolates from BBD had a significantly higher proportion of members that produced AHLs when compared to isolates from the SML of apparently healthy and BB-diseased corals. Only four of 74 (5.4%) isolates from BSML and HSML combined tested positive using the reporter strain whereas 15 of 36 (41.7%) of BBD isolates did so. This shows that short to medium chain AHL-producing isolates are more active in BBD bacterial communities as compared to SML bacterial communities. Overall, BBD is a pathogenic polymicrobial consortium and bacteria living in the coral SML are believed to have probiotic characteristics. Both of these types of microbial communities (pathogenic and probiotic) have been proposed to involve QS on a functional basis.

A second very interesting result of this study was that 10 of the 16 short to medium chain AHL producing isolates exhibited a significant difference in AHL production in terms of temperature. For six of the ten isolates there was significantly increased AHL production at the higher temperature (30 °C) compared to the lower temperature (24 °C). Five of the six isolates that varied AHL production significantly above and below the temperature threshold of BBD (27.5° C) were all isolates from the BBD community. Three (30HC4, 30HC5 and 30HC6) of the eight AHLs detected in this study showed this pattern. Interestingly, the production of 30HC5 consistently increased from 24 °C to 27 °C to 30 °C across all five isolates that produced it, and for two of the five isolates producing this AHL, all three temperature comparisons were statistically significant. Considering the fact that 30HC5 consistently increased at higher temperatures, it is plausible to hypothesize a role of some importance for this AHL in the etiology of this temperature dependent coral disease.

Previous studies of AHL production in terms of temperature and disease revealed varying effects for different AHLs. For example, AHL production by some sub-species of *Erwinia*, which causes soft rot in plants above a threshold temperature of 20 °C, was increased at 34.5 °C compared to 28 °C, whereas production decreased at the elevated temperature for other, non-pathogenic sub-species of the same genus (Hasegawa *et al.* 2005). *Pecobacterium atrosepticum*, which causes soft rot in potatoes at and above 20 °C, produces four AHLs, all of which increased from 4 °C to 24 °C, but decreased at 28 °C (Latour *et al.* 2007). More recently, it was shown that the concentration of eight AHLs produced at 16 °C by *Allivibrio salmonicida*, which causes cold water vibriosis in Atlantic salmon, was reduced to less than 5% in concentration at 6 °C (Hansen *et al.* 2015). These findings, along with the results of this study, implicate temperature as an environmental factor that influences the role of QS in disease.

AHLs are affected by other environmental factors in addition to temperature. These include pH, redox state and oxygen concentration (Horswill *et al.* 2007; Frederix and Downie 2011). Alkaline pH causes degradation of AHLs by rendering the molecule incapable of signaling (Yates *et al.* 2002). In general, it has been shown that the longer the AHL chain length, the more stable the molecule is to external factors and hence, lower the turnover rate (Yates *et al.* 2002; Hmelo and Van Mooy 2009). The pH of sea water is around 8.2, hence one can argue that marine AHL producing bacteria must have long chain AHLs to be capable of signaling in an alkaline pH (Huang *et al.* 2008). However, several studies have found that both short and long chain AHLs are produced

by bacteria in marine environments (Gram *et al.* 2002; Taylor *et al.* 2004; Wagner-Döbler *et al.* 2005; Mohamed *et al.* 2008; Tait *et al.* 2010; Alagely *et al.* 2011; Golberg *et al.* 2011; Biswa and Doble 2013; Ransome *et al.* 2014; Zimmer *et al.* 2014). It may be that the small chain AHLs are produced at high quantities to counteract breakdown due to external factors. Decho *et al.* (2009) proposed that differential degradation of AHLs likely affects signal reception by bacteria, and that this could result in variation of chronological windows in which signaling can occur.

A greater abundance of AHLs has also been observed in buffered media as compared to unbuffered media, which could be the result of increased pH as a growing culture becomes more alkaline (Yates *et al.* 2002). Although buffered media were not utilized in the present study, growth periods were short (on the order of hours) and samples were extracted and immediately frozen at - 20 °C to minimize any breakdown and/or degradation of AHL molecules.

In terms of BBD, the results of this study showed that temperature had an effect on the relative abundance of AHLs produced by BBD isolates with more AHL produced above the BBD temperature threshold. It may be that pH is involved as well, as pH fluctuates widely within BBD over each 24 hour period. The pH in the band can decrease to 7.2 during the night due to release of CO₂ during respiration and increase to 8.2 during the day due to CO₂ uptake during photosynthesis (Carlton and Richardson 1995; Decho *et al.* 2009; Glas *et al.* 2012). Yates *et al.* (2002) showed a pH dependent lactonolysis of AHLs that was higher at 37 °C than at 22 °C. Sea water temperatures above 27.5 °C promote BBD infections in corals. Healthy SML has an acidic pH of 5.5 (Philips, 1963), and within the BBD mat the average pH recorded is 7.5 (Glas *et al.* 2012). Sea water pH

fluctuates between 8-8.2. Hence theoretically, coral-associated AHLs could be most stable in healthy SML, followed by BBD mat and lastly the surrounding sea water. However, an increase in surrounding sea-water temperature could cause pH and temperature to influence each other in a way that they start affecting the stability of AHLs (as was shown in Yates *et al.* 2002). Furthermore, as shown in Decho *et al.* (2009), the half-life of most AHLs significantly reduces over a pH of 8.2. As the pH of sea water varies between 8-8.2, some influence of sea water pH on stability of AHLs on a coral, healthy or diseased, cannot be denied. However, in the case of corals, the effect of the immediate environment likely has a greater influence on the stability of AHLs rather than sea water pH.

In our study we did not investigate the effect of pH or temperature on AHLs as we did not isolate (purify) the AHLs. They were identified, using analytical techniques, solely for the purpose of determining their presence and identification. Experiments targeting the effects of pH and temperature on AHLs purified from BBD are well worth doing in future studies.

All of the isolates that produced AHLs in this study were identified to be *Vibrio* species, which is interesting in that many vibrios exhibit QS. *Vibrio* species are also known pathogens in several coral diseases. For example, *Vibrio coralliilyticus* and *Vibrio shiloi* both cause coral bleaching (Kushmaro *et al.* 1996, 1997; Ben-Haim *et al.* 2003), *Vibrio harveyi* and other *Vibrio* species have been implicated in white syndrome disease (Sussman *et al.* 2008; Luna *et al.* 2010) and *V. alginolyticus* is a proposed pathogen of yellow blotch/band disease (Cervino *et al.* 2008). Several studies have found *Vibrio* species to be present in higher abundance in diseased corals as compared to healthy
corals (Tait *et al.* 2010; Arotsker *et al.* 2015; Tout *et al.* 2015) and vibrios have been proposed to be, in general, opportunistic pathogens of corals (Bourne and Munn 2005), including BBD (Arotsker *et al.* 2009). Several vibrios that have caused disease in corals have done so at a temperature of above 26 °C, close to the temperature threshold of BBD. In our study all six of the BBD isolates that produced significantly more AHLs at 30°C compared to 24°C were vibrios. The vibrios could be either opportunistic colonizers or opportunistic pathogens. Arotsker *et al.* (2009) showed that between 26-28 °C vibrios increase their proteolytic activity in the black band mat, either by increasing the number of proteases produced per bacterial cell or by enhancing the activity rate of the previously manufactured proteases. This observation led to a speculation that the proteolytic activity of the mat is possibly augmented by temperature increase due to increased activity of the *Vibrio* spp. (Arotsker *et al.* 2009). Proteases may assist infiltration of the coral tissue, followed by lysis, thus enhancing disease progression (Ben-Haim and Rosenberg 2002; Arotsker *et al.* 2009).

The presence of many well-known and common QS genes in the BBD metagenome dataset indicates a very high potential for active quorum sensing within the black band mat. Both AHL and AI-2 genes were found to be present in the BBD metagenome, many of which are *Vibrio* associated, which agrees with the high proportion of vibrios among the BBD isolates tested. Overall, a greater variety of QS genes were exclusively present in the Florida Keys metagenome.

In summary, our findings reveal that temperature has a significant effect on the production of specific short to medium length quorum sensing signal molecules (AHLs) produced by isolates of BBD bacteria and that production of three of the eight AHLs

detected is increased above the BBD temperature threshold. Notably the production of 3OHC5 increased from the lower temperatures to the higher temperatures without exception. The significance and role of this particular AHL in BBD initiation and/or advancement requires further investigation. Furthermore, we found that when comparing QS signal production by BBD bacteria vs. bacteria isolated from coral SML, the proportion of QS sensing by BBD bacteria was significantly higher with a greater variety of AHL production. Our results further imply a particular importance of BBD vibrios in the functioning of BBD community quorum sensing, both in the laboratory experiments using bacterial isolates and in our investigation into the BBD metagenome. Whether vibrios and specific quorum sensing signal production capabilities are directly involved in BBD disease etiology necessitates further study targeting specific mechanisms of BBD pathobiology that are linked to QS.

Funding

This work was supported by the National Science Foundation [grant numbers OCE-1208784 L.L.R, S.R.C and P.M.G, OCE-1503483 to L.L.R., and OCE-1061352 to S.R.C.].

Acknowledgements

We thank Abigael Brownell, Zoe Pratte, Tanya Brown and Anthony Bellantuono for assistance in field sampling, Kalai Mathee for providing the reporter strain, Hector Castro and Amanda May for assistance with the LC-MS/MS experiments, and Jainbin Zhu and Jingan Qu for assistance with statistical analysis. Coral SML and BBD samples from the Florida Keys were collected under permit number FKNMS-2012-153. We thank the reviewers for comments and suggestions that greatly improved the manuscript. This is

contribution number 329 from the Tropical Biology Program of Florida International

University.

References

- Alagely A, Krediet CJ, Ritchie KB *et al.* Signaling-mediated cross-talk modulates swarming and biofilm formation in a coral pathogen *Serratia marcescens*. *The ISME J* 2011; **5**:1609–1620.
- Altschul SF, Gish W, Miller W, *et al.* Basic local alignment search tool. *J Mol Biol* 1990; **215:** 403-410.
- Arotsker L, Kramarsky-Winter E, Ben-Dov E, *et al.* Changes in the bacterial community associated with black band disease in a Red Sea coral, *Favia* sp., in relation to disease phases. *Dis Aquat Organ* 2015; **116**:47–58.
- Arotsker L, Siboni N, Ben-Dov E, *et al. Vibrio* sp. as a potentially important member of the Black Band Disease (BBD) consortium in *Favia* sp. corals. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 2009; **70**:515–524.
- Bassler BL. How bacteria talk to each other: regulation of gene expression by quorum sensing. *Curr Opin Microbiol* 1999; **2**:582–587.
- Beleneva IA, Dautova TI, Zhukova NV. Characterization of communities of heterotrophic bacteria associated with healthy and diseased corals in Nha Trang Bay (Vietnam). *Mikrobiologiia* 2005; **74**:667–676.
- Ben-Haim Y, Thompson FL, Thompson CC, et al. Vibrio corallilyticus sp. nov., a temperature-dependent pathogen of the coral Pocillopora damicornis. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 2003; 53:309–315.
- Biswa P, Doble M. Production of acylated homoserine lactone by Gram-positive bacteria isolated from marine water. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2013; **343**:34–41.
- Boettcher KJ & Ruby EG. Depressed light emission by symbiotic *Vibrio fischeri* of the sepiolid squid *Euprymna scolopes*. *J Bacteriol* 1990; **172**: 3701-3706.
- Bourne DG, Garren M, Work TM, *et al.* Microbial disease and the coral holobiont. *Trends Microbiol* 2009; **17**:554–562.
- Bourne DG, Munn CB. Diversity of bacteria associated with the coral *Pocillopora damicornis* from the Great Barrier Reef. *Environ Microbiol* 2005; **7**:1162–1174.

- Britstein M, Devescovi G, Handley KM *et al.* A new *N*-acyl homoserine lactone synthase in an uncultured symbiont of the Red Sea sponge *Theonella swinhoei. Appl Environ Microbiol* 2016; **82:** 1274–1285.
- Carlos C, Torres TT, Ottoboni LMM. Bacterial communities and species-specific associations with the mucus of Brazilian coral species. *Sci Rep* 2013; **3**:1–7.
- Carlton RG, Richardson LL. Oxygen and sulfide dynamics in a horizontally migrating cyanobacterial mat: Black band disease of corals. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 1995; **18**:155–162.
- Casamatta D, Stanić D, Gantar M, *et al.* Characterization of *Roseofilum reptotaenium* (Oscillatoriales, Cyanobacteria) gen. et sp. nov. isolated from Caribbean black band disease. *Phycologia* 2012; **51**:1–14.
- Cervino JM, Thompson FL, Gomez-Gil B, *et al*. The *Vibrio* core group induces yellow band disease in Caribbean and Indo-Pacific reef-building corals. *J Appl Microbiol* 2008; **105**:1658–1671.
- Cooney RP, Pantos O, Le Tissier MDA, *et al.* Characterization of the bacterial consortium associated with black band disease in coral using molecular microbiological techniques. *Environ Microbiol* 2002; **4**:401–413.
- Cróquer A, Bastidas C, Elliott A, *et al.* Bacterial assemblages shifts from healthy to yellow band disease states in the dominant reef coral *Montastraea faveolata*. *Environ Microbiol Rep* 2013; **5**:90–96.
- Davies DG, Parsek MR, Pearson JP, *et al.* The involvement of cell-to-cell signals in the development of a bacterial biofilm. *Science* 1998; **280**:295–298.
- De Castro AP, Araújo SD, Reis AMM, *et al.* Bacterial community associated with healthy and diseased reef coral *Mussismilia hispida* from Eastern Brazil. *Microb Ecol* 2010; **59**:658–667.
- Decho AW, Norman RS, Visscher PT. Quorum sensing in natural environments: emerging views from microbial mats. *Trends Microbiol* 2010; **18**:73–80.
- Decho AW, Visscher PT, Ferry J, *et al.* Autoinducers extracted from microbial mats reveal a surprising diversity of *N*-acylhomoserine lactones (AHLs) and abundance changes that may relate to diel pH. *Environ Microbiol* 2009; **11**:409–20.
- De Kievit TR, Iglewski BH. Bacterial quorum sensing in pathogenic relationships. *Infect Immun* 2000; **68**:4839–4849.
- Dinsdale EA, Pantos O, Smriga S, *et al.* Microbial ecology of four coral atolls in the Northern Line Islands. *PLoS One* 2008; **3**:e1584.

- Dobretsov S, Teplitski M, Paul V. Mini-review: quorum sensing in the marine environment and its relationship to biofouling. *Biofouling* 2009; **25**:413–427.
- Ducklow HW, Mitchell R. Observations on naturally and artificially diseased tropical corals: A scanning electron microscope study. *Microb Ecol* 1979; **5**:215–223.
- Eberhard A, Burlingame AL, Eberhard C, et al. Structural identification of autoinducer of *Photobacterium fischeri* luciferase. *Biochemistry* 1981; **20**:2444–2449.
- Eberl L, Winson MK, Sternberg C, *et al.* Involvement of *N*-acyl-L-homoserine lactone autoinducers in controlling the multicellular behaviour of *Serratia liquefaciens*. *Mol Microbiol* 1996; **20**:127–136.
- Edgar RC. MUSCLE: multiple sequence alignment with high accuracy and high throughput. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2004; **32:** 1792-1797.
- Edmunds PJ. Extent and effect of black band disease on a Caribbean reef. *Coral Reefs* 1991; **10**:161–165.
- Frederix M, Downie AJ. Quorum sensing: regulating the regulators. In: Poole RK (ed.). *Advances in Microbial Physiology*. Elsevier Ltd., 2011, 23–80.
- Frias-Lopez J, Bonheyo GT, Jin Q, *et al.* Cyanobacteria associated with coral black band disease in Caribbean and Indo-Pacific reefs. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2003; 69:2409–2413.
- Frias-Lopez J, Klaus JS, Bonheyo GT, *et al.* Bacterial community associated with black band disease in corals. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2004; **70**:5955–5962.
- Frias-Lopez J, Zerkle AL, Bonheyo GT, *et al.* Partitioning of bacterial communities between seawater and healthy, black band diseased, and dead coral surfaces. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2002; **68**:2214–2228.
- Fuqua C, Parsek MR, Greenberg EP. Regulation of gene expression by cell to cell communication: acyl-homoserine lactone quorum sensing. *Annu Rev Genet* 2001; 35:439–468.
- Garcia GD, Gregoracci GB, Santos E. *et al.* Metagenomic analysis of healthy and white plague-affected *Mussismilia braziliensis* corals. *Microb Ecol* 2013; **65**:1076–1086.
- Garrett P, Ducklow H. Coral diseases in Bermuda. Nature 1975; 253:349-350.
- Glas MS, Sato Y, Ulstrup KE, *et al.* Biogeochemical conditions determine virulence of black band disease in corals. *The ISME J* 2012; **6**:1526–1534.

- Glasl B, Herndl GJ, Frade PR. The microbiome of coral surface mucus has a key role in mediating holobiont health and survival upon disturbance. *The ISME J* 2016:1–13.
- Golberg K, Eltzov E, Shnit-Orland M, *et al.* Characterization of quorum sensing signals in coral-associated bacteria. *Microb Ecol* 2011; **61**:783–792.
- Gram L, Grossart H, Schlingloff A, *et al.* Possible quorum sensing in marine snow bacteria: Production of acylated homoserine lactones by *Roseobacter* strains isolated from marine snow. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2002; **68**:4111–4116.
- Hansen H, Purohit AA, Leiros HS, *et al.* The autoinducer synthases LuxI and AinS are responsible for temperature-dependent AHL production in the fish pathogen *Aliivibrio salmonicida*. BMC *Microbiology* **2015**; **15**: 1–13.
- Hasegawa H, Chatterjee A, Cui Y, *et al.* Elevated temperature enhances virulence of *Erwinia carotovora* subsp. *carotovora* strain EC153 to plants and stimulates production of the quorum sensing signal, *N*-acyl homoserine lactone, and extracellular proteins. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2005; **71**:4655-4663.
- Hmelo L, Van Mooy B. Kinetic constraints on acylated homoserine lactone-based quorum sensing in marine environments. *Aquat Microb Ecol* 2009; **54**:127–133.
- Horswill AR, Stoodley P, Stewart PS, *et al.* The effect of the chemical, biological, and physical environment on quorum sensing in structured microbial communities. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2007; **387**:371–380.
- Huang Y, Ki J, Case R, *et al.* Diversity and acyl-homoserine lactone production among subtidal biofilm-forming bacteria. *Aquat Microb Ecol* 2008; **52**:185–193.
- Hunt LR, Smith SM, Downum KR, *et al.* Microbial regulation in gorgonian corals. *Mar Drugs* 2012; **10**:1225–1243.
- Jayaraman A, Wood TK. Bacterial quorum sensing: signals, circuits, and implications for biofilms and disease. *Annu Rev Biomed Eng* 2008; **10**:145–167.
- Johannes RE. Ecology of organic aggregates in the vicinity of a coral reef. *Limnol Oceanogr* 1967; **12**:189–195.
- Kessner D, Chambers M, Burke R, *et al.* ProteoWizard: Open source software for rapid proteomics tools development. *Bioinformatics* 2008; **24**:2534–2536.
- Kimes NE, Grim CJ, Johnson WR, *et al.* Temperature regulation of virulence factors in the pathogen *Vibrio corallilyticus*. *The ISME J* 2012; **6**:835–846.

- Krediet CJ, Ritchie KB, Paul VJ, *et al.* Coral-associated micro-organisms and their roles in promoting coral health and thwarting diseases. *Proc R Soc London B Biol Sci* 2013; **280**:20122328.
- Kushmaro A, Loya Y, Fine M, *et al.* Bacterial infection and coral bleaching. *Nature* 1996; **380**:396.
- Kushmaro A, Rosenberg E, Fine M, *et al.* Bleaching of the coral *Oculina patagonica* by *Vibrio* AK- 1. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 1997; **147**:159–165.
- Kuta KG, Richardson LL. Abundance and distribution of black band disease on coral reefs in the northern Florida Keys. *Coral Reefs* 1996; **15**:219–223.
- Latour X, Diallo S, Chevalier S, *et al.* Thermoregulation of *N*-acyl homoserine lactonebased quorum sensing in the soft rot bacterium *Pectobacterium atrosepticum*. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2007; **73**:4078–4081.
- Lee J, Zhang L. The hierarchy quorum sensing network in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Protein Cell* 2014; **6**:26–41.
- Lee STM, Davy SK, Tang SL, *et al.* Successive shifts in the microbial community of the surface mucus layer and tissues of the coral *Acropora muricata* under thermal stress. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 2015; **91**:1–11.
- Lesser MP, Jarett JK. Culture-dependent and culture-independent analyses reveal no prokaryotic community shifts or recovery of *Serratia marcescens* in *Acropora palmata* with white pox disease. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 2014; **88**:457–467.
- Li YH, Tian X. Quorum sensing and bacterial social interactions in biofilms. *Sensors* 2012; **12**:2519–2538.
- Lins-de-Barros MM, Cardoso AM, Silveira CB, *et al.* Microbial community compositional shifts in bleached colonies of the Brazilian reef-building coral *Siderastrea stellata. Microb Ecol* 2013; **65**:205–213.
- Littman R, Willis BL, Bourne, DG. Metagenomic analysis of the coral holobiont during a natural bleaching event on the Great Barrier Reef. *Environ Microbiol Rep* 2011; 3:651–660.
- Luna GM, Bongiorni L, Gili C, *et al. Vibrio harveyi* as a causative agent of the white syndrome in tropical stony corals. *Environ Microbiol Rep* 2010; **2**:120–127.
- Lyell NL, Colton DM, Bose JL, *et al.* Cyclic AMP receptor protein regulates pheromone-mediated bioluminescence at multiple levels in *Vibrio fischeri* ES114. *J Bacteriol* 2013; **195**:5051–5063.

- Mao-Jones J, Ritchie KB, Jones LE, *et al.* How microbial community composition regulates coral disease development. *PLoS Biol* 2010; **8**:22–26.
- March JC, Bentley WE. Quorum sensing and bacterial cross-talk in biotechnology. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* 2004; **15**:495–502.
- Marhaver KL, Edwards RA, Rohwer F. Viral communities associated with healthy and bleaching corals. *Environ Microbiol* 2008; **10**:2277–2286.
- May AL, Eisenhauer ME, Coulston KS, *et al.* Detection and quantitation of bacterial acylhomoserine lactone quorum sensing molecules via liquid chromatography-isotope dilution tandem mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem* 2012; **84**:1243–1252.
- McClean KH, Winson MK, Fish L, *et al.* Quorum sensing and *Chromobacteriurn violaceum*: exploitation of violacein production and inhibition for the detection of *N*acyl homoserine lactones. *Microbiology* 1997; **143**:3703–3711.
- Melamud E, Vastag L, Rabinowitz JD. Metabolomic analysis and visualization engine for LC-MS data. *Anal Chem* 2010; **82**:9818–9826.
- Meyer F, Paarmann D, D'Souza M, *et al.* The metagenomics RAST server—a public resource for the automatic phylogenetic and functional analysis of metagenomes. *BMC Bioinformatics* 2008, DOI: 10.1186/1471-2105-9-386
- Miller AW, Richardson LL. A meta-analysis of 16S rRNA gene clone libraries from the polymicrobial black band disease of corals. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* 2011; **75**:231–241.
- Miller MB, Bassler BL. Quorum sensing in bacteria. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 2001; **55**:165–199.
- Mohamed NM, Cicirelli EM, Kan J, *et al.* Diversity and quorum-sensing signal production of *Proteobacteria* associated with marine sponges. *Environ Microbiol* 2008; **10**:75–86.
- Nealson KH, Hastings JW. Bacterial bioluminescence: its control and ecological significance. *Microbiol Rev* 1979; **43**:496–518.
- Nealson KH, Platt T, Hastings JW. Cellular control of the synthesis and activity of the bacterial luminescent system. *J Bacteriol* 1970; **104**:313–322.
- Phillips JH. Immune mechanisms in the phylum Coelenterata. In: Dougherty EC (ed.). The Lower Metazoa: Comparitive Biology and Phylogeny. University of California Press, Berkley, 1963, 425–431.

- Pirhonen M, Flego D, Heikinheimo R, *et al.* A small diffusible signal molecule is responsible for the global control of virulence and exoenzyme production in the plant pathogen *Erwinia carotovora*. *The EMBO J* 1993; **12**:2467–2476.
- Ransome E, Munn CB, Halliday N, et al. Diverse profiles of N-acyl-homoserine lactone molecules found in cnidarians. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2014; 87:315–329.
- Richardson LL. Black band disease. In: Rosenberg E, Loya Y (eds.). *Coral Health and Disease*. Springer, Berlin. 2004, 325-226.
- Richardson LL, Stanić D, May A, *et al.* Ecology and physiology of the pathogenic cyanobacterium *Roseofilum reptotaenium*. *Life Special Issue: Cyanobacteria: Ecology, Physiology and Genetics.* 2014; **4**:968–987.
- Ritchie KB, Smith GW. Preferential carbon utilization by surface bacterial communities from water mass, normal, and white-band diseased *Acropora cervicornis*. *Mol Mar Biol Biotechnol* 1995; **4**:345–352.
- Ritchie KB, Smith GW. Microbial communities of coral surface mucopolysaccharide layers. In: Rosenberg E, Loya Y (eds.). *Coral Health and Disease*. Springer, Berlin. 2004, 259–264.
- Rohwer F, Breitbart M, Jara J, *et al.* Diversity of bacteria associated with the Caribbean coral *Montastraea franksi*. *Coral Reefs* 2001; **20**:85–91.
- Rohwer F, Seguritan V, Azam F, *et al.* Diversity and distribution of coral-associated bacteria. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 2002; **243**:1–10.
- Rosenberg E, Koren O, Reshef L, *et al.* The role of microorganisms in coral health, disease and evolution. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2007; **5**:355–362.
- Rowan R. Diversity and ecology of zooxanthellae on coral reefs. *J Phycol* 1998; **34**:407–417.
- Rützler K, Santavy DL, Antonius A. The black band disease of Atlantic reef corals. *PSZNI Mar Ecol* 1983; **4**:329–358.
- Sato Y, Civiello M, Bell SC, *et al.* Integrated approach to understanding the onset and pathogenesis of black band disease in corals. *Environ Microbiol* 2015; **18**:752-765.
- Sato Y, Willis BL, Bourne DG. Successional changes in bacterial communities during the development of black band disease on the reef coral, *Montipora hispida*. *The ISME J* 2010; **4**:203–214.

- Sekar R, Kaczmarsky L, Richardson LL. Microbial community composition of black band disease on the coral host *Siderastrea siderea* from three regions of the wider Caribbean. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 2008; **362**:85–98.
- Sekar R, Mills DK, Remily ER, et al. Microbial communities in the surface mucopolysaccharide layer and the black band microbial mat of black band-diseased Siderastrea siderea. Appl Environ Microbiol 2006; 72:5963–5973.
- Steindler L, Venturi V. Detection of quorum-sensing *N*-acyl homoserine lactone signal molecules by bacterial biosensors. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2007; **266**:1–9.
- Sussman M, Willis BL, Victor S, *et al.* Coral pathogens identified for white syndrome (WS) epizootics in the Indo-Pacific. *PLoS One* 2008; **3**:e2393.
- Sutherland KP, Porter JW, Torres C. Disease and immunity in Caribbean and Indo-Pacific zooxanthellate corals. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 2004; **266**:273–302.
- Tait K, Hutchison Z, Thompson FL, *et al.* Quorum sensing signal production and inhibition by coral-associated vibrios. *Environ Microbiol Rep* 2010; **2**:145–150.
- Tamura K, Dudley J, Nei M, *et al.* MEGA4: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis (MEGA) software version 4.0. *Mol Biol Evol* 2007; **24:** 1596-1599.
- Taylor MW, Schupp PJ, Baillie HJ, *et al.* Evidence for acyl homoserine lactone signal production in bacteria associated with marine sponges. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2004; **70**:4387–4389.
- Tello E, Castellanos L, Duque C. Disruption in quorum-sensing systems and bacterial biofilm inhibition by cembranoid diterpenes isolated from the octocoral *Eunicea knighti*. *J Nat Prod* 2012; **75**:1637–1642.
- Teplitski M, Ritchie K. How feasible is the biological control of coral diseases? *Trends Ecol Evol* 2009; **24**:378–385.
- Tout J, Siboni N, Messer LF, *et al.* Increased seawater temperature increases the abundance and alters the structure of natural *Vibrio* populations associated with the coral *Pocillopora damicornis. Front Microbiol* 2015; **6**:432-444.
- Van Houdt R, Givskov M, Michiels CW. Quorum sensing in Serratia. FEMS Microbiol Rev 2007; 31:407–424.
- Vega Thurber R, Willner-Hall D, Rodriguez-Mueller B, et al. Metagenomic analysis of stressed coral holobionts. Environ Microbiol 2009; 11:2148–63.

- Vega Thurber RL, Barott KL, Hall D, et al. Metagenomic analysis indicates that stressors induce production of herpes-like viruses in the coral Porites compressa. Proc Natl Acad Sci2008; 105:18413–18418.
- Voelkert E, Grant DR. Determination of homoserine as the lactone. *Anal Biochem* 1970; **34**:131–137.
- Voss JD, Mills DK, Myers JL, *et al.* Black band disease microbial community variation on corals in three regions of the wider Caribbean. *Microb Ecol* 2007; **54**:730–739.
- Voss JD, Richardson LL. Coral diseases near Lee Stocking Island, Bahamas: Patterns and potential drivers. *Dis Aquat Organ* 2006; **69**:33–40.
- Wagner-Döbler I, Thiel V, Eberl L, *et al.* Discovery of complex mixtures of novel long chain quorum sensing signals in free-living and host-associated marine alphaproteobacteria. *Chembiochem* 2005; **6**:2195–2206.
- Webster NS, Cobb RE, Negri AP. Temperature thresholds for bacterial symbiosis with a sponge. *The ISME J* 2008; **2**:830–842.
- Wegley L, Edwards R, Rodriguez-Brito B, *et al.* Metagenomic analysis of the microbial community associated with the coral *Porites astreoides*. *Environ Microbiol* 2007; 9:2707–2719.
- Wilke A, Glass E, Bischof J, *et al.* MG-RAST technical report and manual for version 3.3.6–Rev 1. 2013.
- Yates EA, Philipp B, Buckley C, et al. N-acylhomoserine lactones undergo lactonolysis in a pH-, temperature-, and acyl chain length-dependent manner during growth of Yersinia pseudotuberculosis and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Infect Immun 2002; 70:5635–5646.
- Zhang L, Murphy PJ, Kerr A, *et al. Agrobacterium* conjugation and gene regulation by *N*-acyl-L-homoserine lactones. *Nature* 1993; **362**:446–448.
- Zimmer BL, May AL, Bhedi CD, *et al.* Quorum sensing signal production and microbial interactions in a polymicrobial disease of corals and the coral surface mucopolysaccharide layer. *PLoS One* 2014; **9**:e108541.

Isolate source	No. of isolates positive in the CV026 QS assay (%)	Total no. of isolates tested
BBD	15 (41.7)	36
BSML	2 (5.6)	36
HSML	2 (5.3)	38
Total	19 (17.3)	110

Table 3-1: Bacterial isolates from three coral health states that were positive for QS signal production assayed using the *C. violaceum* CV026 biosensor strain.

All isolates were from the coral species M. *cavernosa*. BBD = black band disease; BSML = apparently healthy SML from the BBD-infected colony; HSML = SML from a healthy, nearby colony

Table 3-2: Identification of AHL producing	ng isolates used in this study based on 16S
rRNA gene sequencing.	

StrainNo.	Isolate	Source of isolate	Genbank accession number	Closest relative in Genbank	% similarity of relative	Accession number of closest relative in GenBank
1	5-BBD-S1	BBD	KX353776	Vibrio harveyi strain QH141026D	99	KU245732
2	5-BBD-S5	BBD		anna Calèi annas	-	
3	5-BBD-S8	BBD	KX146443	Vibrio harveyi strain X11XC19	99	KM881533
4	5-BBD-S11	BBD	KX146444	Vibrio sp. PMS13	99	EU372931
5	5-BBD-S21	BBD	-	-	-	
6	5-BBD-522	BBD	KX146442	Vibrio harveyi strain QH141026D	99	KU245732
7	5-BBD-S24	BBD	-		-	
8	5-BBD-M2	BBD	KX146440	Vibrio harveyi strain QH141026D	99	KU245732
9	5-BBD-M5	BBD		· · · · · ·	-	~
10	5-BBD-M6	BBD	KX146441	Vibrio harveyi strain QH141026D	99	KU245732
11	5-BBD-M10	BBD	KX146445	Vibrio harveyi strain bb4	99	KC455398
12	5-BBD-M12	BBD	KX146446	Vibrio sp. sw0106-05	100	KT276382
13	5-BBD-M4	BBD	KX146448	Vibrio tubiashii strain T33	99	KP329558
14	5-BSML-S17	BSML	KX146449	Vibrio sp. PaH2.06c	99	GQ406738
15	5-HSML-S16	HSML			-	2
16	5-HSML-S1	HSML		-	-	~

ATCC = American Type Culture Collection. 'M' in isolate designation refers to culture isolated using marine agar medium; 'S' in isolate designation refers to culture isolated using sea water tryptone agar medium. NA = not applicable, '-' = cultures that failed to grow for 165 rRNA gene identification.

	AHLs detected									
Isolate number	30HC4	C5	30HC5	30C5:1	C6	30HC6	30HC8	30C12		
1	2.6%	-	-	-	97.4%	-	-	-		
2	-	1.5%	-	2.7%	95.8%	-	-	-		
3	-	-	-	-	100%	-	-	-		
4	98.7%	-	1.3%	-	-	-	-	-		
5	6.5%	-	-	-	93.5%	-	-	-		
6	96.4%	-	3.6%	-	-	-	-	-		
7	98.3%	-	1.7%	-	-	-	-	-		
8	45.4%	-	-	-	54.6%	-	-	-		
9	37.9%	-	-	-	62.1%	-	-	-		
10	98.6%	-	1.4%	-	-	-	-	-		
11	98.6%	-	1.4%	-	-	-	-	-		
12	31.2%	-	-	-	-	68.8%	-	-		
13	66.7%					32.0%	1.3%			
14	99.2%	-	-	-	-	0.8%	-	-		
15	12.9%	-	-	-	-	78.9%	-	8.2%		
16	75.7%	-	-	-	-	3.8%	-	20.5%		
Number of isolates producing the corresponding AHL (out of 16)	14	1	5	1	6	5	1	2		

Table 3-3: Percentages of AHLs produced by each isolate across three temperatures and six time points (pooled and averaged replicate sample values) as analyzed by LC-MS/MS.

Table 3-4: Results of univariate ANOVA analysis of pooled AHL production by all isolates based on temperature.

	Temperatures	65	Isolate ID									Overall simificance
AHL	compared	2	4	6	7	10	11	12	13	14	15	across isolates
30HC4	24°C vs. 27°C	1	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.001	NS	NS	0.014	0.216
	27°C vs. 30°C	1.00	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.000	0.045	0.001	0.000	0.000
	24°C vs. 30°C	-	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.001	NS	0.000
30HC5	24°C vs. 27°C	-	0.029	0.050	0.040	0.004	0.014	-	-	-	-	0.000
	27°C vs. 30°C	-	NS	NS	NS	0.000	0.002	-	-	-	-	0.000
	24°C vs. 30°C	-	0.001	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	-	-	-	-	0.000
3OHC6	24°C vs. 27°C	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.018	NS	0.002	0.000	0.000
	27°C vs. 30°C		-	-	_	-	-	NS	NS	0.007	0.034	0.031
	24°C vs. 30°C			-		-	-	NS	NS	NS	0.001	0.005
30C5:1	24°C vs. 27°C	0.012	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.012

All time points were also pooled across all replicates ($P \le 0.05$). Comparisons of AHL quantitation were done in pairs (24-C vs. 27-C, 27-C vs. 30-C, 24-C vs. 30-C). \sim absence of AHL production, NS = non-significant AHL production. +0.000 indicates that the p values were very small. Only data for AHLs that yielded a significant difference per temperature comparison are shown.

30HC		HC4	C4 30HC5			3OHC6		
Isolate no.	24°C	30°C	24°C	30°C	24°C	30°C		
4	NS	NS	Lower	Higher	_	_		
6	NS	NS	Lower	Higher	_	_		
7	NS	NS	Lower	Higher	-	-		
10	NS	NS	Lower	Higher	_	_		
11	NS	NS	Lower	Higher	_	_		
14	Lower	Higher	-	-	Lower	Higher		

Table 3-5: Comparison of AHL production by isolates at 24 °C vs 30 °C.

Only AHLs for which there were statistically significant (P < 0.05) results are shown. '-'= absence of AHL production, NS = non-significant AHL production.

	Isolate sou	rce
BBD infected coral (BBD) (n = 13)	SML of healthy coral (HSML) (n = 2)	SML from healthy part of BBD-infected coral (BSML) (n = 1)
30HC4 30HC6 C5 30HC5 30C5:1 C6 30HC8	30HC4 30HC6 30C12	30HC4 30HC6

Table 3-6: Comparison of AHLs produced by isolates in terms of isolate origin across three coral health states.

Shaded rows indicate AHLs that were produced by isolates from all three coral health states. Bolded AHLs were observed to have a significant increase in production at 30° C (compared to 24° C) across one or more of their producing isolates.

Table 3-7: Functional annotations of two BBD metagenomes within the subsystem category of Regulation and Cell Signaling in MG-RAST.

Sample	Coral species	Functional annotation of	f the genetic sequence	Avg. e value	Avg. % identity	Avg. align. length (aa)	No. of hits
Florida Keys	Colpophyllia natans	AHL autoinducer quorum sensing	Autoinducer synthesis protein LuxI	-14.29	80.08	46.38	5
Curaçao	Pseudodiploria strigosa	AHL autoinducer quorum sensing	Autoinducer synthesis protein LuxI	-10	71.14	42.83	5
Florida Keys	Colpophyllia natans	AHL autoinducer quorum sensing	N-Acyl-L-homoserine lactone synthetase RhlL	-13.36	80.81	44.41	1
Florida Keys	Colpophyllia natans	AHL autoinducer quorum sensing	Transcriptional activator protein LuxR	-13.26	74.22	47.53	5
Curaçao	Pseudodiploria strigosa	AHL autoinducer quorum sensing	Transcriptional activator protein LuxR	-9.75	72.4	42	3
Florida Keys	Colpophyllia natans	Quorum sensing in Vibrio	8-Amino-7- oxononanoate synthase/CqsA	-18.5	83.15	49.5	2
Florida Keys	Colpophyllia natans	Quorum sensing in Vibrio	Autoinducer 2 sensor kinase/phosphatase LuxQ	-7.67	68.48	41	9
Florida Keys	Colpophyllia natans	Quorum sensing in Vibrio	Autoinducer 2-binding periplasmic protein LuxP precursor	-13.8	82.28	42.94	11
Florida Keys	Colpophyllia natans	Quorum-sensing in Vibrio	N-(3-Hydroxybutanoyl)- L- homoserine lactone synthase LuxM	-19	95.92	49	1
Florida Keys	Colpophyllia natans	Quorum sensing in Vibrio	Quorum-sensing regulator of virulence HapR	-10.21	72.77	44.42	5
Florida Keys	Colpophyllia natans	Quorum sensing in Vibrio	Regulatory protein LuxO	-12.63	75.67	45.78	10
Curaçao	Pseudodiploria strigosa	Quorum sensing in Vibrio	Regulatory protein LuxO	-11.95	74.74	45.92	6
Florida Keys	Colpophyllia natans	Quorum sensing in Vibrio	S-Ribosylhomocysteine lyase/autoinducer-2 production protein LuxS	-12.76	77.39	44.87	32
Curaçao	Pseudodiploria strigosa	Quorum sensing in Vibrio	S-Ribosylhomocysteine lyase/autoinducer-2 production protein LuxS	-13.08	71.85	48.58	18
Florida Keys	Colpophyllia natans	Quorum sensing: autoinducer-2 synthesis	S-Adenosylmethionine synthetase	-17.59	85.16	50.02	256
Curaçao	Pseudodiploria strigosa	Quorum sensing: autoinducer-2 synthesis	S-Adenosylmethionine synthetase	-19.1	83.02	54.46	246
Curaçao	Pseudodiploria strigosa	Quorum sensing in Yersinia	N-Acyl homoserine lactone hydrolase	-18.5	74.58	54	1
Florida Keys	Colpophyllia natans	Quorum-sensing regulation in Pseudomonas	BarA-associated response regulator UvrY	-11.5	68.82	48.71	36
Curaçao	Pseudodiploria strigosa	Quorum-sensing regulation in Pseudomonas	BarA-associated response regulator UvrY	-10.1	72.99	42.81	16
Florida Keys	Colpophyllia natans	Quorum-sensing regulation in Pseudomonas	N-Acyl-L-homoserine lactone synthetase RhlL	-13.36	80.81	44.41	1
Curação	rseudodipioria strigosa	in Pseudomonas	regulator	-16.5	84.45	4/.5	1

Max. e value cutoff = 10⁻⁵, min. % identity cutoff = 60%, and min. alignment length cutoff = 40 aa. Average length of fragments obtained was 145 base pairs. Rows that are fully highlighted (gray) represent unique gene products associated with that sample.

Figure 3-1: Maximum likelihood phylogenetic tree based on 16S rRNA gene sequences of isolates used in this study and their closest relatives in GenBank. Shaded squares indicate the isolates used in this study, hollow squares indicate closest relatives of the isolates in GenBank, and hollow triangles indicate sequences that were used for rooting the phylogenetic tree. Values at the nodes are bootstrap values after 1000 resamplings. AHLs produced by the isolates are indicated next to the isolate designation in order of AHL production, from highest to lowest.



CHAPTER 4

EXPLORING THE PRESENCE AND POTENTIAL INFLUENCE OF SECONDARY METABOLITES PRODUCED BY BLACK BAND DISEASE HETEROTROPHS WITHIN BBD

Abstract

Black band disease (BBD) of corals, an infectious polymicrobial mat disease, is dominated in biomass by cyanobacteria, accompanied by other functional groups that include sulfate reducers, sulfide oxidizers and an exhaustive collection of heterotrophs. The heterotrophs within BBD have been proposed to harbor primary and secondary potential pathogens. In the present study, culture dependent and culture independent approaches were employed to evaluate the production and implication of two significant secondary metabolites potentially produced by BBD heterotrophs, antimicrobial compounds and quorum sensing (QS) signal molecules. Antimicrobial production by heterotrophs isolated from healthy, diseased and the healthy part of BBD infected corals were tested against two ecologically relevant and possibly significant bacterial strains in BBD, Roseovarius crassostreae and Ferrimonas sp. Isolates from BBD were also tested for acyl homoserine lactone production, a signaling molecule that enables quorum sensing (QS) amongst bacteria. Additionally, four BBD metagenomes were evaluated for the presence of genes associated with antimicrobial production. Quorum sensing, antimicrobial synthesis, and antimicrobial resistance genes were compared with other non-diseased publicly available coral metagenomes. The proteobacterial populations across all the metagenomes were also compared. In the antimicrobial assays, isolates from the healthy portion of BB-diseased corals, as compared to isolates from healthy corals, displayed greater inhibition against test strains. When comparing metagenomes, both BBD as well as non-diseased coral metagenomes contained comparable gene sequences for 'Secondary metabolism' with no significant differences across groups. Isolates from BBD displayed AHL production, which corroborated with the presence of

gene sequences for QS and biofilm formation in BBD metagenomes. A vast repertoire of genes for resistance against antibiotics and toxic compounds was also revealed and an increase in fluoroquinolone resistance genes in BBD metagenomes was detected. The presence of alpha- and gammaproteobacteria was detected in all metagenomes while delta- and epsilonproteobacteria were found only in BBD metagenomes. The observations from this study are aimed at improving the understanding of the structure and community dynamics within the BBD heterotroph population, with the overall goal of elucidating the mechanisms of this intricate coral disease.

Introduction

The global decline in coral reefs as an effect of climate change and coral disease has made the study of coral associated microbes increasingly crucial (Rosenberg and Ben Haim 2002; Weil et al. 2006; Bruno and Selig 2007; Harvell et al. 2007). Black band disease of corals is one such coral disease causing damage to colossal reef building corals (Kuta and Richardson 1997; Richardson 2004). First reported in 1973, (Antonius 1973) the polymicrobial mat BBD constructs a toxic microenvironment on the coral colony with the assistance of photosynthetic cyanobacteria, sulfate reducing and sulfide oxidizing bacteria and a sizeable catalogue of heterotrophic bacteria to eventually cause tissue lysis leading to coral death (Garrett and Ducklow 1975; Ducklow and Mitchell 1979; Rützler et al. 1983; Miller and Richardson 2011). The rate of infection of this highly virulent global disease has a minimum temperature threshold of 27.5 °C (Edmunds 1991; Voss and Richardson 2006a). The heterotrophic population of BBD has often been estimated to shelter potentially significant pathogens capable of structuring bacterial communities

required for formation and progression of the migrating mat community (Cooney et al. 2002; Frias-Lopez et al. 2002; Miller and Richardson 2011).

A vast and varied microbial population resides within the surface mucopolysaccharide layer (SML) of healthy as well as diseased corals (Brown and Bythell 2005). The SML itself is a good source of nourishment for probiotic as well as pathogenic/opportunistic invaders (Kvennefors et al. 2012). Owing to the close vicinity of the water column to coral SML, bacteria from the column are regularly recruited into the mucus, permitting transferals to and from these two habitats (Rohwer et al. 2002; Kuek et al. 2015).

Microbes in the coral SML perform a variety of functions such as occupying the entry niche to prevent overgrowth of undesirable organisms, scavenging limiting nutrients in the oligotrophic environment (Rohwer et al. 2002), and production of secondary metabolites such as antimicrobials and signaling molecules (Hunt et al. 2012; Kvennefors et al. 2012). Since bacteria attached to healthy coral mucus are not subjected to mucus regulated bacterial selection, they could behave opportunistically under stressful conditions such as increased temperatures (Ritchie 2006; Kuek et al. 2015). Such an environmental change causes a shift in coral bacterial community and dynamics (Reshef et al. 2006). A modeling approach by Mao-Jones et al. (2010), demonstrated that exposure to thermal stress shifted the microbial community from being dominated by antibiotic producing microbes to being governed by pathogens, and that long after the stress was removed, the shift in microbial community persisted (Mao-Jones et al. 2010). Glasl et al. (2016) recently demonstrated that exposure of coral colonies to a blend of antibiotics rendered them vulnerable to disease and bleaching, demonstrating the significance of the resident probiotic microbiota of healthy coral SML. Furthermore, multiple studies have presented the potential of healthy and diseased coral microbial

communities to produce quorum sensing (QS) signal molecules (Skindersoe et al. 2007; Tait et al. 2010; Golberg et al. 2011; Alagely et al. 2011; Taylor et al. 2013; Ransome et al. 2014; Munn 2015), suggesting the potential for cell-cell signaling within the coral holobiont. The density dependent signaling phenomenon has been evidenced in a vast selection of bacteria worldwide (Nealson et al. 1970; Nealson and Hastings 1979; Waters and Bassler 2005a), through induction of genes for enhanced bacterial features, including production of antimicrobials, biofilm formation, resistance to antimicrobials and toxic compounds, and induction of virulence genes (Williams et al. 2000; Irie and Parsek 2008; Bandara et al. 2012; Hmelo 2017).

The heterotrophic population within BBD is comprised of numerous classes of proteobacteria including alpha, gamma, epsilon, and delta (Frias-Lopez et al. 2004; Sekar et al. 2006; Sekar et al. 2008; Sato et al. 2017). Several reports have discovered the incidence of an interesting alphaproteobacterium, *Alliroseovarius crassostreae*, consistently associated with the BBD mat (Cooney et al. 2002; Sekar et al. 2006; Sekar et al. 2010; Miller and Richardson 2011; Miller 2012; Richardson 2012). An OTU with 94-97% identity to the 16S rRNA gene of *A. crassostreae* was disclosed to be the second most abundant OTU across 87 BBD clone libraries (Miller and Richardson 2011). This alphaproteobacterium is the causative agent of Juvenile Oyster Disease (JOD), now known as *Roseovarius* Oyster Disease (ROD), causing conchiolin deposits in juvenile oysters, resulting in mass mortalities (Bricelj et al. 1992; Ford and Borrero 2001; Maloy et al. 2007). The occurrence and role of such a distinctive sequence within BBD advocates further study. Another bacterial species, *Ferrimonas* sp., has also been detected in BBD clone libraries (Sekar et al. 2006). Along with known antimicrobial properties,

several *Ferrimonas* strains are iron reducing. Iron reduction is a known virulence factor (Wooldridge and Williams 1993), making this species of specific interest within the virulent BBD community.

Black band disease progresses as a polymicrobial consortium of several operative participants, wherein the metabolism and by-products of individuals from each functional category affect one another. Cyanobacteria from the mat have displayed inhibition as well as stimulation of growth of heterotrophic bacterial isolates from the BB-diseased mat in in-vitro studies (Gantar et al. 2011). Bacteria from healthy and black band diseased corals were shown to inhibit as well as stimulate growth in varying percentages of isolates when tested against each other (Zimmer et al. 2014). The same study also revealed the AHL and AI-2 producing capabilities of BBD bacterial community (Zimmer et al. 2014). A significantly higher number of bacterial isolates from BBD have been shown to produce AHLs as compared to bacteria isolated from apparently healthy corals (Bhedi et al. 2017).

BBD heterotrophic bacteria, the most phylogenetically diverse group in the disease mat, are likely to exhibit variety in their metabolic functioning, facilitating disease progression. In the present study, the antimicrobial and QS molecule production capabilities of cultured heterotrophs from BBD are explored. Additionally, BBD metagenomes are screened for secondary metabolism sequences including antimicrobial production, quorum sensing and antimicrobial resistance.

Materials and methods

Sample collection and bacterial isolation

Samples of BBD, SML from apparently healthy coral (HSML), and SML from

apparently healthy portions of BBD infected coral (BSML) were collected from *Montastrea cavernosa* (Table 1) as previously used and described in Bhedi et al. 2017. Additionally, in the present study *P. strigosa* isolates (N = 119) were used for AHL screening using a reporter strain (CV026 assay) and LC-MS/MS (AHL detection). Both *P. strigosa* and *M. cavernosa* isolates were used for antimicrobial assays (N = 229) (Table 1). Bacterial cultures from the BBD samples were isolated as explained previously (Bhedi et al. 2017).

Antimicrobial production assays

The antimicrobial production proficiencies of isolates were verified by an agar overlay technique against the strains *Ferrimonas* sp. EF3B-B688 (isolated from BBD) and *A. crassostreae* CV919-312 (ATCC strain) as targets. For antimicrobial testing, Difco MA basal plates (containing 1.5% agar) were overlaid with 5 ml molten MA (containing 0.7% agar) seeded with 100 μ l of freshly grown broth culture of either *A. crassostreae* or *Ferrimonas*. Overlaid plates were allowed to dry for 15 min and spot inoculated with freshly grown isolates. Each plate contained a known antimicrobial producing strain as a positive control and sterile Difco Marine Broth (MB) as negative control. The plates were incubated at 25 °C and monitored for zones of inhibition (ZOI) over a period of 48 hrs. To compare results across health states, in each case, ZOI from isolates from BBD as a health state was compared against HSML or BSML via a proportion z-test for significance (p ≤ 0.05).

Testing for AHL producing isolates

A total of 119 isolates from BBD were tested for production of AHLs with an agar overlay method using *Chromobacterium violaceum* CV026 as described in chapter 3

(*'Chromobacterium violaceum* CV026 AHL reporter strain assay' under Materials and Methods) (Bhedi et al. 2017). *R. crassostreae* CV919-312 and *Ferrimonas* sp. EF3B-B688, strains used for the antimicrobial assay were also tested via LC-MS/MS for AHL production.

AHL detection via LC-MS/MS

All isolates positive for production of AHLs via the CV026 assay were analyzed using LC-MS/MS for AHL identification and abundance variation across three temperatures (24, 27 and 30 °C) as described in chapter three (Bhedi et al., 2017) in the laboratory of DR. Shawn Campagna at University of Tennessee, Knoxville.

16S rRNA gene sequencing of AHL producing isolates

16S rRNA gene sequencing was performed on the five isolates that produced AHLs as described in chapter three. Isolates 1 and 2 (Figure 2) were previously described in Zimmer et al. 2014. Isolates 3 and 4 were submitted under the accession numbers KX353778, KX353777 to GenBank. Isolate 5 failed to grow during 16S rRNA gene sequencing.

Metagenomic analysis

Black band disease samples were collected from Horseshoe Reef in the Florida Keys and Curaçao (CARMABI station) from *Colpophyllia natans* (samples 1, 2 and 4) and *Pseudodiploria strigosa* (sample 3) and used for metagenomic analysis. All samples post collection were added into tubes containing RNA later, stored at -80 °C, and sent to the Microbiome Analysis Center to Dr. Patrick Gillevet at George Mason University in Fairfax, Virginia. Metagenomic analysis was carried out as described in chapter three (Bhedi et al., 2017).

Metagenomic analysis from publicly available metagenomes

For comparison of the metagenomes of BB-diseased vs. non-diseased samples, the four BBD samples described above were analyzed and compared with six publicly available metagenomes using MG-RAST (http://metagenomics.anl.gov/) (Meyer et al. 2008). 'Coral atoll samples 1-5' (4466596.3, 4466597.3, 4466810.3, 4466812.3, 4466844.3 respectively) were used from Dinsdale et al. (2011) (samples with the most coral cover were selected for analysis) and the 'Apparently healthy coral' metagenome (4445756.3) was used from Littman et al. (2011) (Dinsdale et al. 2008; Littman et al. 2011). Analyses were compared across levels 1, 2, 3 and 4 categories of subsystems database following a hierarchical classification of annotation (level 4 'also denoted as 'function' in subsystem). For functional metagenomic analysis throughout the study, the following parameters were used: Databases = Subsystems for functional analysis, RDP for phylogenetic analysis; Maximum e value = 10^{-5} ; Minimum alignment length = 40 aa for protein databases, 90 bp for RNA databases.

Results

Antimicrobial production of by isolates from HSML, BSML, and BBD

A total of 229 isolates were tested for antimicrobial production against *Ferrimonas* sp. EF3B-B688 and *Alliroseovarius crassostreae* CV919-312. Of these, 155 were isolated from the black band mat, 38 from HSML and 36 from BSML (Table 1). Twenty-three isolates across health states inhibited *A. crassostreae* CV919-312 (14.8% of isolates tested) (Figure 1). Of these 23 isolates, 14 (9.0%) were BBD isolates, five (13.9%) were from the healthy part of BBD infected coral (BSML) and four (10.5%) were from the

SML of apparently healthy coral (HSML). Inhibition of growth of *Ferrimonas* sp. (EF3B-B688) was caused by 15 (6.6%) of the isolates across all health states. Of the 15 isolates, nine (23.7%) were from HSML, two (5.6%) were from BSML and 4 (2.6%) were from BBD. Sixteen (6.9%) of the isolates inhibited the QS reporter strain, *Chromobacterium violaceum* CV026. Within these 16, nine (23.7%) isolates originated from HSML and seven (19.4%) from BSML. None of the isolates from BBD inhibited the reporter strain.

For *R. crassostreae* CV919-312, both comparisons of BBD vs. HSML and BBD vs. BSML were not significantly different at $p \le 0.05$. For isolates inhibiting *Ferrimonas* EF3B-B688, BBD vs. BSML was not significant while the comparison between BBD vs. HSML was significant ($p \le 0.05$) with a greater number of isolates from HSML inhibiting *Ferrimonas* EF3B-B688 as compared to BBD.

AHL production

The results for AHL detection across three temperatures (24, 27 and 30 °C) are presented in Figure 2. Along with five isolates that tested positive in the CV026 assay, AHL production by *R. crassostreae* CV919-312 and *Ferrimonas* sp. EF3B-B688 was also tested. Four AHLs were detected as produced by these seven isolates (Figure 2). C6 was the most frequently produced AHL, followed by 3OHC4. All seven bacterial strains showed some variation with temperature, however none of the variations were statistically significant at $p \le 0.05$ (data not shown). Isolate five and *Ferrimonas* sp. both produced 3OHC4 dominantly as opposed to the other five bacteria.

Metagenomic analysis

Gene sequences identified in the Subsystems database (level 1) categories of

'Regulation and cell signaling' (including genes for QS), 'Secondary metabolism' (including genes for antibiotic and antimicrobial synthesis) and 'Virulence, disease and defense' (for antimicrobial resistance genes) were compared (Figure 3) across the four BBD samples. In each of the four BBD metagenomes, the gene sequences for 'Virulence, disease and defense' were higher than genes for 'Secondary metabolism' and 'Regulation and cell signaling' categories. The fewest number of gene sequences were observed in the 'Regulation and cell signaling' categories across BBD as well as non-diseased metagenomes (data shown only for BBD).

The percentage of gene sequences detected in the 'Secondary metabolism' Subsystem category among the BBD and publicly available metagenomes (Figure 4) included those for 'Bacterial cytostatics, differentiation and antibiotics' (level 2 category). These were higher in BBD samples two and three as compared to the atoll samples. Gene sequences for 'Biosynthesis of phenylpropanoids' were equivalent in BBD-Sample two and Coral atoll-Sample one and less or absent amongst the other samples. The 'Apparently healthy coral' sample (Littman et al. 2011) had no gene sequences in the category of 'Secondary metabolism' within the MG-RAST Subsystems database. After pooling hits to compare all diseased (four BBD metagenomes) vs. all non-diseased metagenomes (coral atoll samples), sequences under level 1 category of 'Secondary metabolism' had no significant difference. However, sequences under level 2 categories of 'Bacterial cytostatics, differentiation and antibiotics' and 'Biosynthesis of phenylpropanoids' were significantly higher in the BBD metagenomes (z-proportion test, $p \le 0.05$).

Figure 5 shows the level 1 category of 'Regulation and cell signaling' displayed as gene sequences annotated under level 4, also denoted as 'function' in susbsystems

hierarchial classification. Sequences for *S*-adenosyl methionine synthase (level 4) were most dominant and present across most samples investigated. As with 'Secondary metabolism', sequences under 'Regulation and cell signaling' were also perceived to be of larger variety in non–diseased metagenomes as compared to BBD metagenomes. Apart from BBD-Sample 3, all BBD metagenomes had *S*-adenosyl methionine synthase sequences in great abundance. Sequences for biofilm synthesis (PgaA, PgaB, PgaC) (level 4) were also noted in a few analyzed metagenomes (Coral atoll-Samples 1, 3, 5).

Figure 6 indicates the vast range of level 3 sequences under level 2 category of 'Resistance to antibiotics and toxic compounds', a subcategory under level 1 of 'Virulence, disease and defense'. Most of the sequences represented were indicative of metal resistance genes including zinc, mercury, copper, cobalt, cadmium and arsenic. Several other sequences represented the ability to breakdown antimicrobials, specifically sequences for resistance to antibiotics such as fluroquinolones, vancomycin, methicillin, and erythromycin. Four types of multidrug efflux pumps/system sequences were also unveiled. Other than the 'Apparently healthy coral' metagenome (Littman et al. 2011), all other metagenomes had sequences for resistance to fluoroquinolones in higher percentages, with BBD metagenomes having a higher percentage of sequences in the category in contrast to coral atoll metagenomes.

Figure 7 shows the taxonomic affiliation and sequence abundance (percentages) of proteobacteria across all analyzed metagenomes using the RDP database. Alpha and gammaproteobacteria were most abundant in all metagenomes. BBD samples additionally contain delta- and epsilonproteobacteria, while these were markedly absent in the other metagenomes.

Discussion

Antimicrobial assays

The results of the antimicrobial assays using the *Ferrimonas* strain showed that the strain was inhibited by a significantly higher number of isolates from HSML (13.9%) as compared to BBD (2.6%). Species from the *Ferrimonas* genus have been previously isolated from the mucus of healthy *Acropora millepora* (Kvennefors et al. 2012). One particular strain, *Ferrimonas* sp. A3B-64-2, isolated from the mucus of a healthy coral, demonstrated the ability to inhibit the pathogen of coral bleaching, *Vibrio shiloi* (Nissimov et al. 2009). *Ferrimonas marina* has been isolated previously from a black band diseased colony of *Siderastrea sideria* (Sekar et al. 2006). BBD metagenomes used in this study also showed presence of several strains of *Ferrimonas* (data not shown). The presence of *Ferrimonas* under both healthy and diseased conditions in corals may indicate its functionality as an opportunistic pathogen in BBD.

Isolates from the BSML community had the highest number of inhibitors of *R*. *crassostreae* (13.9%), followed by HSML isolates at 10.5% and BBD isolates at 9.0%. Comparing inhibitors across the BBD community, *R. crassostreae* had a greater number of inhibiting isolates than *Ferrimonas*. *R. crassostreae*, apart from being consistently present in BBD clone libraries (Miller and Richardson 2011), has additionally been associated with several other coral diseases, such as white plague-like disease (Pantos et al. 2003), white band disease (Pantos and Bythell 2006) and lately, Australian tropical white syndrome (Godwin et al. 2012). Along with *R. crassostreae*, *R. nubinhibens* has been isolated from BBD infecting *Siderastrea sideria* (Sekar et al. 2006). BBD metagenomes used in this study also showed the presence of *R. nubinhibens* (data not

shown). Several members of marine *Rhodobactereceae* have demonstrated pathogenic traits, including QS (Cude and Buchan 2013). Both the cases of inhibition against *Ferrimonas* and *R. crassostreae* that are exemplary of isolates from the healthy coral SML/healthy portion of BBD infected coral suggest inhibition of putative pathogenic/opportunistic bacteria.

AHL analysis

From the QS results of this study, it was found that AHL C6 was manufactured by all seven bacterial cultures tested. Of these seven cultures, five bacterial strains produced C6 dominantly, as compared to the other three identified AHLs (30HC4, C5, 30HC5). These observations are in agreement with findings from previous studies, where C6 (Zimmer et al., 2014) and 30HC4 (Bhediet al., 2014) were the predominantly produced AHLs. However, due to the small number of isolates tested, a statistically significant change of AHL production with varying temperature was not detected in this study.

Quorum sensing assisted by AHLs has been symptomatic of pathogenicity in a vast number of bacteria in across various habitats. The precise and targeted functionality of AHLs in BBD pathogenicity remains to be studied further. Nevertheless, the ability of these isolates to produce AHLs suggests a role of some prominence of bacterial cell signaling in BB-disease etiology.

Metagenomic analysis of QS, antimicrobial synthesis, and antibiotic resistance sequences

The percentage of sequences associated with 'Virulence disease and defense' was higher than that for 'Secondary metabolism' and 'Regulation and cell signaling' across BBD metagenomes (Figure 3). Additionally, a great variety of sequences associated with

'Resistance to antibiotics and toxic compounds' was detected in BBD as well as nondiseased coral metagenomes. Several of these included sequences for metal resistance encompassing zinc, chromium, mercury, copper, cobalt, cadmium and arsenic. Genes for heavy metal resistance in BBD, particularly metallothionein, were recently revealed in a metagenomic and transcriptomics study (Sato et al. 2017). Some studies have indicated an association between heavy metal resistance and higher antibiotic resistance (Pal et al. 2015). A great variety of antibiotic and antimicrobial resistance gene sequences were also observed in the present study, along with the occurrence of several multidrug efflux pumps, within BBD. In comparison to the coral atoll metagenomes, BBD metagenomes had a greater percentage of sequences for resistance to fluoroquinolones. Gene sequences for fluoroquinolone resistance have been previously been detected in microbes of corals (Wegley et al. 2007). The increased percentage of antibiotic resistance sequences in BBD metagenomes likely benefits the BBD microbial population. Such gene sequences may be active in counteracting antimicrobials produced by the resident probiotic community, and therefore may aid in establishing/maintaining a virulent, antimicrobial resistant mat consortium (Nogales et al. 2011).

Biofilms are known to increase resistance of microbes to antimicrobials and antibiotics (Irie and Parsek 2008). The migrating BBD mat functions analogous to a complex biofilm, where enclosed microniches in the mat biofilm enable concentration of secondary metabolites such as antimicrobials and QS signals. The concentration of these molecules in BBD may influence structuring of the BBD community, speculatively facilitating disease progression. Additionally, horizontal gene transfer of antimicrobial

resistance genes may augment mat virulence, also encouraging black band disease development and/or advancemnet.

Proteobacterial abundance across metagenomes

Assessment of the types of proteobacteria within the metagenomes revealed the abundance of alpha- and gammaproteobacteria in metagenomes of both corals from atolls and BBD. However, delta- and epsilonproteobacteria were present only within BBD metagenomes. Previous studies have reported higher abundances of deltaproteobacteria sequences in BBD in comparison to healthy coral SML (Sekar et al. 2006; Meyer et al. 2017). In a recent study comparing the progression of lesions of relatively benign cyanobacterial patches (CP) to BBD mat, both delta- and epsilonproteobacterial sequences were reportedly higher in BBD metagenomes in contrast to CP datasets (Sato et al. 2017). The presence of sulfate reducing deltaproteobacteria in BBD likely represents the difference in abundances of these sequences between diseased and nondiseased metagenomes.

Potential implications of secondary metabolites in BBD

This study assessed the antimicrobial and AHL production of cultivable bacteria from healthy and BB-diseased coral health states and evaluated BBD and healthy coral metagenomes for sequences related to production of secondary metabolites and resistance. Production of these secondary metabolites is anticipated to directly affect the microbial community dynamics, structure and organization of BBD. However, the nature of the surrounding reef environment as well as the growth condition of the bacteria can also affect production and interaction of these molecules with each other (Bruhn et al. 2007; Horswill et al. 2007). BBD infects corals at warmer water temperatures, which possibly influences the production and abundance of these secondary metabolites. Bhedi et al. (2017) recently showed an increase in the abundance of specific AHLs (30HC4, 30HC5 and 30HC6) at higher temperatures by BBD isolates (Bhedi et al. 2017).

From the metagenomic analysis targeted at antimicrobial synthesis and antimicrobial resistance genes, no significant difference in pooled sequences for 'Secondary' metabolism' was detected across BBD vs. non-diseased coral metagenomes. However, a significantly higher number of sequences in BBD metagenomes were detected under level 3 categories for production of antibiotics and phenypolyprenoids (categories 'Bacterial cytostatics, differentiation and antibiotics' and 'Biosynthesis of phenylpropanoids'). One can contemplate that although the BBD metagenomes showed gene sequences that indicate an ability to produce antimicrobials, these compounds may degrade due to warmer temperatures, as has been shown previously (Mao-Jones et al. 2010; Rypien et al. 2010; Glasl et al. 2016). It would be interesting to examine the effect of temperature on antimicrobial production by experimentally quantifying their abundance while being produced by BBD isolates in an attempt to investigate their fate under ecological conditions mimicking BBD. QS has also been known to induce expression of antimicrobial production and antimicrobial resistance genes in several bacteria (Bandara et al. 2012). Presently, the influence of QS on antimicrobial production in BBD microbes is not known.

Summarizing the results of the present study, the antimicrobial assays indicated that, comparatively speaking, the fewest number of BBD isolates inhibited all three strains, *R. crassostreae*, *Ferrimonas* and *C. violaceum* CV026. Although only three strains were examined, these observations suggest that the BBD community exhibits lesser inhibition than bacteria within coral SML. There were more antimicrobial producing isolates from
HSML and BSML than from BBD, likely important in maintaining the probiotic role of SML bacteria, both in terms of preventing colonization and of killing invaders that successfully colonize this niche. On the other hand, under conditions of temperature stress, the abundance of antimicrobials may decrease (Mao-Jones et al. 2010; Rypien et al. 2010; Glasl et al. 2016), paving way for over-growth of opportunistic pathogens or invasion of new pathogens from the water column.

In the present study, production of QS signals by BBD isolates was detected and this result was shown to correlate with the presence of QS gene sequences in BBD metagenomes. QS in BBD may lead to the abundance of a highly diverse population of opportunistic heterotrophic secondary pathogens and may control the transition of non-pathogenic to pathogenic bacteria via expression of QS controlled pathogenic traits. QS may also facilitate horizontal gene transfer of antimicrobial resistance genes, enabling maintenance of the virulent and toxic mat. In this manner, the production of secondary metabolites, antimicrobial compounds, QS signaling molecules and antimicrobial resistance genes may play interactive roles in structuring the BBD community. Targeted studies need to be undertaken to investigate the precise role of these secondary metabolites in BBD pathogenesis.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Abigael Brownell and Zoe Pratte for assisting with sample collection, Marta Gomez-Chiarri for providing the *Roseovarius crassostreae* strain, Kalai Mathee for providing the *C. violaceum* CV026 QS reporter strain, and Hector Castro and Amanda May, for assistance with the LC-MS/MS experiments.

References

- Alagely A, Krediet CJ, Ritchie KB, Teplitski M (2011) Signaling-mediated cross-talk modulates swarming and biofilm formation in a coral pathogen *Serratia marcescens*. The ISME Journal 5:1609-1620.
- Antonius, A (1973) New observations on coral destruction in reefs. Tenth Meeting of the Association of Island Marine Laboratories of the Caribbean 3.
- Bandara HM, Lam OL, Jin LJ, Samaranayake L (2012) Microbial chemical signaling: a current perspective. Crit Rev Microbiol 38:217-249.
- Bhedi CD, Prevatte CW, Lookadoo MS, Waikel PA, Gillevet PM, Sikaroodi M, Campagna SR, Richardson LL (2017) Elevated temperature enhances short to medium chain acyl homoserine lactone production by black band disease associated vibrios. FEMS Microbiol.Ecol. 93.
- Bricelj VM, Ford SE, Borrero FJ, Perkins FO, Rivara G, Hillman RE, Elston RA, Chang J, Brook S, York N, Norris P, Point G, Street W, Road WS (1992) Unexplained mortalities of hatchery-reared, juvenile oysters, *Crassostrea virginica*. J Shellfish Res 11:331-347.
- Brown BE, Bythell JC (2005) Perspectives on mucus secretion in reef corals. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 296:291-309.
- Bruhn JB, Gram L, Belas R (2007) Production of antibacterial compounds and biofilm formation by *Roseobacter* species are influenced by culture conditions. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:442-50.
- Bruno JF, Selig ER (2007) Regional decline of coral cover in the Indo-Pacific: timing, extent, and subregional comparisons. PLoS One 2:e711.
- Cooney RP, Pantos O, Le Tissier MD, Barer MR, O'Donnell AG, Bythell JC (2002) Characterization of the bacterial consortium associated with black band disease in coral using molecular microbiological techniques. Environ Microbiol 4:401-413.
- Cude WN, Buchan A (2013) Acyl-homoserine lactone-based quorum sensing in the *Roseobacter* clade : complex cell-to-cell communication controls multiple physiologies. Frontiers in Microbiology 4:336.
- Dinsdale EA, Pantos O, Smriga S, Edwards RA, Angly F, Wegley L, Hatay M, Hall D, Brown E, Haynes M, Krause L, Sala E, Sandin SA, Vega Thurber R, Willis BL, Azam F, Knowlton N, Rohwer F (2008) Microbial ecology of four coral atolls in the Northern Line Islands. PLoS One 3:e1584.

- Ducklow HW, Mitchell R (1979) Observations on naturally and artificially diseased tropical corals: A scanning electron microscope study. Microb Ecol 5:215-223.
- Edmunds PJ (1991) Extent and effect of black band disease on a Caribbean reef. Coral Reefs 10:161-165.
- Ford SE, Borrero FJ (2001) Epizootiology and pathology of juvenile oyster disease in the eastern oyster, *Crassostrea virginica*. J Invertebr Pathol 78:141-154.
- Frias-Lopez J, Klaus JS, Bonheyo GT, Fouke BW (2004) Bacterial community associated with black band disease in corals. Appl Environ Microbiol 70:5955-5962.
- Frias-Lopez J, Zerkle AL, Bonheyo GT, Fouke BW (2002) Partitioning of bacterial communities between seawater and healthy, black band diseased, and dead coral surfaces. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:2214-2228.
- Gantar M, Kaczmarsky LT, Stanić D, Miller AW, Richardson LL (2011) Antibacterial activity of marine and black band disease cyanobacteria against coral-associated bacteria. Marine drugs 9:2089-105.
- Garrett P, Ducklow H (1975) Coral diseases in Bermuda. Nature 253:349-350.
- Glasl B, Herndl GJ, Frade PR (2016) The microbiome of coral surface mucus has a key role in mediating holobiont health and survival upon disturbance. The ISME Journal 10:2280-2292.
- Godwin S, Bent E, Borneman J, Pereg L (2012) The role of coral-associated bacterial communities in Australian subtropical white syndrome of *Turbinaria mesenterina*. PloS one 7:e44243.
- Golberg K, Eltzov E, Shnit-Orland M, Marks RS, Kushmaro A (2011) Characterization of quorum sensing signals in coral-associated bacteria. Microb Ecol 61:783-792.
- Harvell D, Jordán-Dahlgren E, Merkel S, Rosenberg E, Raymundo L, Smith G, Weil E, Willis B (2007) Coral disease, environmental drivers, and the balance between coral and microbial associates. Oceanography 20:172-195.
- Hmelo LR (2017) Quorum sensing in marine microbial environments. Ann Rev Mar Sci 9:257-281.
- Horswill AR, Stoodley P, Stewart PS, Parsek MR (2007) The effect of the chemical, biological, and physical environment on quorum sensing in structured microbial communities. Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry 387:371-380.

- Hunt LR, Smith SM, Downum KR, Mydlarz LD (2012) Microbial regulation in gorgonian corals. Marine drugs 10:1225-1243.
- Irie Y, Parsek MR (2008) Quorum sensing and microbial biofilms Bacterial biofilms. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp 67-84.
- Kuek FWI, Lim L, Ngu L, Mujahid A, Lim P, Leaw C, Müller M (2015) The potential roles of bacterial communities in coral defence : A case study at Talang-talang reef. Ocean Science Journal 50:269-282.
- Kuta, KG, Richardson, LL (1997) Black band disease and the fate of diseased coral colonies in the Florida Keys. Proceedings of the 8th International Coral Reef Symposium:575-578.
- Kvennefors EC, Sampayo E, Kerr C, Vieira G, Roff G, Barnes AC (2012) Regulation of bacterial communities through antimicrobial activity by the coral holobiont. Microb Ecol 63:605-18.
- Littman R, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2011) Metagenomic analysis of the coral holobiont during a natural bleaching event on the Great Barrier Reef. Environmental microbiology reports 3:651-660.
- Maloy AP, Ford SE, Karney RC, Boettcher KJ (2007) *Roseovarius crassostreae*, the etiological agent of Juvenile Oyster Disease (now to be known as *Roseovarius* Oyster Disease) in *Crassostrea virginica*. Aquaculture 269:71-83.
- Mao-Jones J, Ritchie KB, Jones LE, Ellner SP (2010) How microbial community composition regulates coral disease development. PLoS Biology 8:22-26.
- Meyer F, Paarmann D, D'Souza M, Olson R, Glass EM, Kubal M, Paczian T, Rodriguez A, Stevens R, Wilke A, Wilkening J (2008) The metagenomics RAST server-a public resource for the automatic phylogenetic and functional analysis of metagenomes. BMC Bioinformatics 9:386.
- Meyer JL, Paul VJ, Raymundo LJ, Teplitski M (2017) Comparative Metagenomics of the Polymicrobial Black Band Disease of Corals. Front Microbiol 8:618.
- Miller AW (2012) Black band disease: elucidating origins and disease mechanisms.
- Miller AW, Richardson LL (2011) A meta-analysis of 16S rRNA gene clone libraries from the polymicrobial black band disease of corals. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 75:231-241.
- Munn CB (2015) The role of vibrios in diseases of corals. Microbiology spectrum 3:1-12.

- Nealson KH, Hastings JW (1979) Bacterial bioluminescence: its control and ecological significance. Microbiol Rev 43:496-518.
- Nealson KH, Platt T, Hastings JW (1970) Cellular control of the synthesis and activity of the bacterial luminescent system. J Bacteriol 104:313-322.
- Nissimov J, Rosenberg E, Munn CB (2009) Antimicrobial properties of resident coral mucus bacteria of *Oculina patagonica*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 292:210-5.
- Nogales B, Lanfranconi MP, Pina-Villalonga JM, Bosch R (2011) Anthropogenic perturbations in marine microbial communities. FEMS Microbiol Rev 35:275-298.
- Pal C, Bengtsson-Palme J, Kristiansson E, Larsson DG (2015) Co-occurrence of resistance genes to antibiotics, biocides and metals reveals novel insights into their co-selection potential. BMC Genomics 16:964-015-2153-5.
- Pantos O, Bythell JC (2006) Bacterial community structure associated with white band disease in the elkhorn coral *Acropora palmata* determined using culture-independent 16S rRNA techniques. Dis Aquat Org 69:79-88.
- Pantos O, Cooney RP, Le Tissier M,D., Barer MR, O'Donnell A,G., Bythell JC (2003) The bacterial ecology of a plague-like disease affecting the Caribbean coral *Montastrea annularis*. Environ Microbiol 5:370-382.
- Ransome E, Munn CB, Halliday N, Cámara M, Tait K (2014) Diverse profiles of *N*-acylhomoserine lactone molecules found in cnidarians. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 87:315-329.
- Reshef L, Koren O, Loya Y, Zilber-Rosenberg I, Rosenberg E (2006) The coral probiotic hypothesis. Environ Microbiol 8:2068-2073.
- Richardson LL (2004) Black band disease Coral health and disease. Springer, pp 325-336.
- Richardson LL (2012) Arnfried Antonius, coral diseases, and the AMLC. Revista de biología tropical 60:13-20.
- Ritchie KB (2006) Regulation of microbial populations by coral surface mucus and mucus-associated bacteria. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 322:1-14.
- Rohwer F, Seguritan V, Azam F, Knowlton N (2002) Diversity and distribution of coralassociated bacteria. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 243:1-10.
- Rosenberg E, Ben Haim Y (2002) Microbial disease of corals and global warming. Environ Microbiol 4:318-326.

- Rützler K, Santavy DL, Antonius A (1983) The black band disease of Atlantic reef corals. Mar Ecol 4:329-358.
- Rypien KL, Ward JR, Azam F (2010) Antagonistic interactions among coral-associated bacteria. Environ Microbiol 12:28-39.
- Sato Y, Ling EY, Turaev D, Laffy P, Weynberg KD, Rattei T, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2017) Unraveling the microbial processes of black band disease in corals through integrated genomics. Sci Rep 7:40455.
- Sato Y, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2010) Successional changes in bacterial communities during the development of black band disease on the reef coral, *Montipora hispida*. The ISME journal 4:203-214.
- Sekar R, Kaczmarsky LT, Richardson LL (2008) Microbial community composition of black band disease on the coral host *Siderastrea siderea* from three regions of the wider Caribbean. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 362:85-98.
- Sekar R, Mills DK, Remily ER, Voss JD, Richardson LL (2006) Microbial communities in the surface mucopolysaccharide layer and the black band microbial mat of black band-diseased *Siderastrea siderea*. Appl Environ Microbiol 72:5963-5973.
- Skindersoe ME, Ettinger-Epstein P, Rasmussen TB, Bjarnsholt T, de Nys R, Givskov M (2007) Quorum sensing antagonism from marine organisms. Marine biotechnology 10:56-63.
- Tait K, Hutchison Z, Thompson FL, Munn CB (2010) Quorum sensing signal production and inhibition by coral-associated vibrios. Environmental Microbiology Reports 2:145-150.
- Taylor P, Golberg K, Pavlov V, Marks RS, Kushmaro A (2013) Coral-associated bacteria, quorum sensing disrupters, and the regulation of biofouling. Biofouling 29:37-41.
- Voss JD, Richardson LL (2006) Coral diseases near Lee Stocking Island, Bahamas: Patterns and potential drivers. Dis Aquat Org 69:33-40.
- Waters CM, Bassler BL (2005) Quorum sensing: cell-to-cell communication in bacteria. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 21:319-46.
- Wegley L, Edwards R, Rodriguez-Brito B, Liu H, Rohwer F (2007) Metagenomic analysis of the microbial community associated with the coral *Porites astreoides*. Environ Microbiol 9:2707-2719.

- Weil E, Smith G, Gil-Agudelo D (2006) Status and progress in coral reef disease research. Dis Aquat Org 69:1-7.
- Williams P, Camara M, Hardman A, Swift S, Milton D, Hope VJ, Winzer K, Middleton B, Pritchard DI, Bycroft BW (2000) Quorum sensing and the population-dependent control of virulence. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 355:667-80.
- Wooldridge KG, Williams PH (1993) Iron uptake mechanisms of pathogenic bacteria. FEMS Microbiol Rev 12:325-348.
- Zimmer BL, May AL, Bhedi CD, Dearth SP, Prevatte CW, Pratte Z, Campagna SR, Richardson LL (2014) Quorum sensing signal production and microbial interactions in a polymicrobial disease of corals and the coral surface mucopolysaccharide layer. PLoS One 9:e108541.

Tables

Table 4-1: Sampling dates, locations and bacterial isolates used in this study. All 229 isolates were used in the antimicrobial assays against *R. crassostreae* CV919-312, *Ferrimonas* sp. EF3B-B688 and *C. violaceum* CV026. All isolates form *P. strigosa* colonies (N=119) were additionally tested for AHL production via *C. violaceum* CV026 agar overlay assay. BBD = black band disease mat sample, HSML= sample taken from apparently healthy coral of the same host species, BSML= sample taken from the apparently healthy part of the BBD infected coral. The QS production capabilities of isolates from *M. cavernosa* have been previously used and described in Bhedi et al. 2017.

Date of sample collection	Coral host	Location	Sample type	No. of isolates	
9/30/2012	Pseudodiploria strigosa	Horseshoe Reef, Florida Keys, FL, USA (N 25°08.362' W 80°17.641')	BBD	8	
2/23/2013	Pseudodiploria strigosa	Water Factory, Curaçao, Netherlands Antilles (N 12° 06.779' W 68° 57.662')	BBD	44	119
5/25/2013	Pseudodiploria strigosa	Water Factory, Curaçao, Netherlands Antilles (N 12° 06.779' W 68° 57.662')	BBD	67	
8/19/2013	Montastraea cavernosa	Algae Reef, Florida	BBD	36	
		Keys, FL, USA (N 25' 08.799 W 80' 17.579)	HSML	38	
			BSML	36	
Total number of isolates			229		

Figures

Figure 4-1: Differences in percentages of isolates from three coral health states, black band disease mat (BBD), apparently healthy portion of a BB-diseased coral (BSML) and apparently healthy coral SML (HSML), inhibiting *Ferrimonas* EF3B-B688 and *Roseovarius crassostreae* CV919-312 and the AHL reporter strain *Chromobacterium violaceum* CV026 ($p \le 0.05$).





Figure 4-2: AHL production by BBD isolates, *R. crassostreae* CV919-312, *Ferriomonas* EF3B-B688 and influence of temperature on AHL abundance profiles.

Figure 4-3: Differences in gene sequences of BBD metagenomes as annotated against Subsystems database, under categories of 'Regulation and cell signaling', 'Secondary metabolism' and Virulence, disease and defense'.



Figure 4-4: Examining secondary metabolites in metagenomes of BBD and comparing with coral atoll (Dinsdale et al. 2008) and apparently healthy coral metagenomes (Littman et al. 2011) with using subsystems database.



Figure 4-5: Sequences annotated using susbsystems database as level 4 functions of 'QS and biofilm formation' while comparing BBD metagenomes, coral atoll metagenomes (Dinsdale et al. 2008) and apparently healthy coral metagenome (Littman et al. 2011).



Figure 4-6: Sequences annotated using susbsystems database at level 3 under level 2 category of 'Resistance to antibiotics and toxic compounds' comparing BBD, coral atoll (Dinsdale et al. 2008) and apparently healthy coral metagenomes (Littman et al. 2011).





Figure 4-7: Taxonomic affiliations of proteobacteria as compared across metagenomes annotated using RDP database.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS

The principal goal of this dissertation was to evaluate the presence of quorum sensing (QS) signals in BBD heterotrophs and assess their potential implication in BBD pathogenicity employing culture dependent and independent methodologies.

The results of Chapter two revealed that DPD, the precursor for the universal signaling molecule AI-2, was produced by nine bacterial isolates from three coral health states. Twelve AHL producing bacteria were also detected and the AHLs produced were identified by LC-MS/MS (Zimmer et al. 2014).

The results of Chapter three revealed a significantly higher number of BBD isolates that produce QS signals (short- to medium chain AHLs) in contrast to isolates from healthy corals and the healthy part of BBD infected corals. Furthermore, these AHLs were identified and it was shown that the production of three of them (30HC4, 30HC5, 30HC6) increased significantly at 30°C, above the observed BBD threshold temperature on the reef. This chapter also exhibited QS related sequences in BBD metagenomes across two geographic locations (Bhedi et al. 2017).

Chapter four examined the antimicrobial production capabilities of isolates across coral health states, tested against two possibly significant BBD isolates, showing the fewest number of isolates inhibiting the two test stains. This chapter also evaluated the AHL production capabilities of seven bacteria (including BBD isolates) with varying temperature, although no significant difference in production was detected across temperatures. The metagenomic aspect of this chapter revealed the presence of QS, antimicrobial synthesis and antimicrobial resistance genes in BBD metagenomes as compared with non-diseased coral metagenomes from publicly available databases

(Dinsdale et al. 2008; Littman et al. 2011). BBD metagenomes were shown to display a large selection of antimicrobial resistance genes. The proteobacterial affiliations of sequences across metagenomes showed the exclusive presence of delta- and epsilonproteobacteria in BBD metagenomes.

Based on the results obtained from this study, and supported by a review of the literature, a model is proposed (Figure 1) for BBD heterotrophic interactions as primarily influenced by QS. In this model, beginning from the top of Figure 1, the bacteria inhabiting the healthy coral SML are exposed to thermal stress due to an increase in surrounding sea-water temperature. This leads to a change in the bacterial community and dynamics, as discussed in (Reshef et al. 2006; Ainsworth and Hoegh-Guldberg 2009; Ainsworth et al. 2010; Krediet et al. 2013). Under these conditions, new pathogens are recruited from the water column near the corals, and existing resident bacteria undergo shifts to adapt to the change in the environmental condition, as per the coral probiotic hypothesis (Reshef et al. 2006). Antimicrobial production by bacteria inhabiting healthy SML then decreases due to the warmer temperatures (Mao-Jones et al. 2010; Rypien et al. 2010; Glasl et al. 2016). Concurrently, specific bacteria increase their abundance (population density) with the increase in temperature, leading to initiation of QS. Quorum sensing then leads to gene expression of virulence factors in opportunistic pathogens like vibrios as well as selection of antimicrobial resistant microbes. QS signals have been known to also function as cues for bacterial recruitment (Joint et al. 2002; Huang et al. 2008), further increasing chances of recruiting pathogens from the water column. Decreased antimicrobial production by SML bacteria allows growth of putative pathogens capable of QS. The collective effect of these exchanges facilitates

establishment of the BBD heterotrophic population, leading to dominance by proteobacteria. QS by vibrios (and other potential QS microbes) within BBD results in production of AHLs (30HC4, 30HC5 and 30HC6) shown to be induced at warmer temperatures (Bhedi et al. 2017). As BBD progresses, the production of these AHLs directly or indirectly influences secretion of proteases (Munn 2015), potentially involved in coral tissue degradation. AHL aided QS additionally enables acquisition and/or expression of antimicrobial resistance genes (Jain et al. 1999). The overall effect of these microbial interactions escalates the virulence of the BBD mat community and encourages maintenance of the community dynamics.

The primary findings from this dissertation provide evidence that specific QS molecules are produced by BBD heterotrophs and that their production is affected by temperature, known to be a controlling factor of coral diseases on the reef. These findings are supported by the presence of virulence genes and their potential expression as revealed by analysis of BBD metagenomes. The results of this dissertation also provide insights into antagonistic interactions within the BBD bacterial population based on antimicrobial production and/or resistance. It is likely that these microbial and environmental (temperature) interactions are involved in the establishment and maintenance of BBD infections. The results from this dissertation offer further information to elucidate the mechanism of one of the most complex, destructive and intricate coral diseases.

References

- Ainsworth TD, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2009) Bacterial communities closely associated with coral tissues vary under experimental and natural reef conditions and thermal stress. Aquatic Biology 4:289-296.
- Ainsworth TD, Vega Thurber R, Gates RD (2010) The future of coral reefs: a microbial perspective. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 25:233-40.
- Bhedi CD, Prevatte CW, Lookadoo MS, Waikel PA, Gillevet PM, Sikaroodi M, Campagna SR, Richardson LL (2017) Elevated temperature enhances short to medium chain acyl homoserine lactone production by black band disease associated vibrios. FEMS Microbiol.Ecol. 93.
- Dinsdale EA, Pantos O, Smriga S, Edwards RA, Angly F, Wegley L, Hatay M, Hall D, Brown E, Haynes M, Krause L, Sala E, Sandin SA, Vega Thurber R, Willis BL, Azam F, Knowlton N, Rohwer F (2008) Microbial ecology of four coral atolls in the Northern Line Islands. PLoS One 3:e1584.
- Glasl B, Herndl GJ, Frade PR (2016) The microbiome of coral surface mucus has a key role in mediating holobiont health and survival upon disturbance. The ISME Journal 10:2280-2292.
- Huang Y, Ki J, Case R, Qian P (2008) Diversity and acyl-homoserine lactone production among subtidal biofilm-forming bacteria. Aquat Microb Ecol 52:185-193.
- Jain R, Rivera MC, Lake JA (1999) Horizontal gene transfer among genomes: the complexity hypothesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:3801-3806.
- Joint I, Tait K, Callow ME, Callow JA, Milton D, Williams P, Cámara M (2002) Cell-tocell communication across the prokaryote-eukaryote boundary. Science 298:1207.
- Krediet CJ, Ritchie KB, Paul VJ, Teplitski M (2013) Coral-associated micro-organisms and their roles in promoting coral health and thwarting diseases. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 280:20122328.
- Littman R, Willis BL, Bourne DG (2011) Metagenomic analysis of the coral holobiont during a natural bleaching event on the Great Barrier Reef. Environmental microbiology reports 3:651-660.
- Mao-Jones J, Ritchie KB, Jones LE, Ellner SP (2010) How microbial community composition regulates coral disease development. PLoS Biology 8:22-26.

Munn CB (2015) The role of vibrios in diseases of corals. Microbiology spectrum 3:1-12.

- Reshef L, Koren O, Loya Y, Zilber-Rosenberg I, Rosenberg E (2006) The coral probiotic hypothesis. Environ Microbiol 8:2068-2073.
- Rypien KL, Ward JR, Azam F (2010) Antagonistic interactions among coral-associated bacteria. Environ Microbiol 12:28-39.
- Zimmer BL, May AL, Bhedi CD, Dearth SP, Prevatte CW, Pratte Z, Campagna SR, Richardson LL (2014) Quorum sensing signal production and microbial interactions in a polymicrobial disease of corals and the coral surface mucopolysaccharide layer. PLoS One 9:e108541.

Figure 5-1: Model of microbial interactions for establishment and maintenance of BBD heterotrophic population, primarily based on quorum sensing.



VITA

CHINMAYEE D. BHEDI

2006-2009	B.Sc., Microbiology University of Mumbai Mumbai, Maharashtra, India
2009-2011	M.Sc., Microbiology University of Mumbai Mumbai, Maharashtra, India
2011-2012	Research & Development Executive Synergia Life Sciences Pvt. Ltd. Mumbai, Maharashtra, India
2012-2017	Ph.D., Biology Florida International University Miami, Florida, USA
2012-2014	Research Assistantship National Science Foundation Florida International University
2014 -2017	Teaching Assistantship General Microbiology, General Biology Florida International University
2017	Dissertation Year Fellowship Florida International University
2014-2017	Professional Development and Research Grant Florida International University

PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

Bhedi, C.D., Prevatte, C.W., Lookadoo, M.S., Waikel, P.A., Gillevet, P.M., Sikaroodi, M., Campagna, S.R. & Richardson, L.L. 2017. Elevated temperature enhances short to medium chain acyl homoserine lactone production by black band disease associated vibrios. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 93.

Zimmer, B.A., May, A.L., Bhedi, C.D., Dearth, S.P., Prevatte, C.W., Pratte, Z., Campagna, S.R., & Richardson L.L. 2014. Quorum sensing signal production and microbial interactions in a polymicrobial disease of corals and the coral surface mucopolysaccharide layer. PLOS One, 9: e108541.

Bhedi, C.D.*, Gillevet, P. M., Sikaroodi, M., Rodriguez-Lanetty, M., and L. L. Richardson, L. L. 2017. Investigating CRISPR-Cas systems in metagenomes of black band disease of corals. ASM Microbe 2017, New Orleans, LA, June 1-5, 2017. (Poster)

Brown T.*, Waikel, P., Bhedi C. D., Lewis, C., Richardson L. L., and Rodriguez-Lanetty, M. 2017. Finding the needle in a hay stack: use of the cnidarian model system, *Exaiptasia pallida* to screen potential disease causing pathogens in corals. 38th Association of Marine Laboratories of the Caribbean, May 22-26, 2017, (Oral), and 19th Annual Biomedical & Comparative Immunology (BCI) Symposium, FIU, Miami, FL, March 30-31, 2017. (Oral)

Richardson, L. L.*, Bhedi, C. D., Sikaroodi, M., and Gillevet, P.M. 2017. A new approach to understanding the etiology of black band disease. 38th Association of Marine Laboratories of the Caribbean, May 22-26, 2017. (Oral)

Bhedi, C.D.*, Prevatte, C.W., Lookadoo, M.S., Waikel P.A., Campagna, S.R., and Richardson, L.L. 2016. Influence of temperature variation on quorum sensing signal production by black band disease heterotrophs. 13th International Coral Reef Symposium, Honolulu, HI, June 19-24, 2016 (Oral).

Bhedi, C.D.*, Prevatte, C.W., Lookadoo, M.S., Waikel P.A., Campagna, S.R., and Richardson, L.L. .2016. Effect of temperature deviation on quorum sensing signal molecules in black band disease heterotrophs. 18th Annual Biomedical and Comparative Immunology (BCI) Symposium, FIU, Miami, FL, March 3-4, 2016. (Oral)

Bhedi, C.D.*, Prevatte, C.W., Lookadoo, M.S., Campagna, S.R., and Richardson, L.L. 2015. Effect of temperature on quorum sensing signal molecules in black band disease heterotrophs. 37th AMLC Meeting, Willemstad, Curaçao, May 18-22, 2015. (Oral)

Bhedi, C.D.*, Prevatte, C.W., Lookadoo, M.S., Campagna, S.R., and Richardson, L.L. 2015. We have a quorum, now what are we saying? 40th Annual Eastern Fish Health Workshop, Charleston, SC, March 2-6, 2015. (Oral)

Bhedi, C.D.*, and Richardson, L.L. 2014. Do we have a quorum yet? 39th Annual Eastern Fish Health Workshop, Sheperdstown, WV, April 28-May 2, 2014. (Oral)

Bhedi, C.D.*, and Richardson, L.L. 2014. Characterization of heterotrophic bacteria in black band disease (BBD) and their potential role in BBD pathogenesis. 16th Annual Biology Research Symposium, FIU, Miami, FL, February 1, 2014, (Poster) and Florida Branch of the American Society for Microbiology Annual Meeting, Islamorada, Miami, FL, April 13-14, 2013. (Poster)